

This is a reproduction of a library book that was digitized by Google as part of an ongoing effort to preserve the information in books and make it universally accessible.

Google books



https://books.google.com

Library of



Hrinceton University. from the bequest of Dr. Theodore W. Hunt, 55



TALES

FOR

THE PEOPLE AND THEIR CHILDREN.

TIRED OF HOUSEKEEPING.

BY

T. S. ARTHUR.



TIRED

07

HOUSEKEEPING.

BY

T. S. ARTHUR,
AUTHOR OF "INSUBORDINATION," "SIX NIGHTS
WITH THE WASHINGTONIANS," ETC. ETC.

NEW-YORK:
D., APPLETON, AND COMPANY,
200 BROADWAY.

Entered according to Act of Congress, in the year 1842, by

D. APPLETON & CO.,
in the Clerk's Office, of the Southern District of New-York.

HENRY LUDWIG, PRINTER

Digitized by Google

CONTENTS.

| CHAPTER I. | |
|-----------------------|------------|
| Going to Housekeeping | 7 |
| CHAPTER II. | |
| First Experiments | 16 |
| CHAPTER III. | |
| Morning Calls | 29 |
| CHAPTER IV. | |
| First Demonstrations | 40 |
| CHAPTER V. | |
| | 46 |
| CHAPTER VI. | |
| | 56 |
| CHAPTER VII. | |
| | 66 |
| CHAPTER VIII. | |
| | 72 |
| CHAPTER IX. | |
| | 78 |
| CHAPTER X. | |
| | 34 |
| CHAPTER XI. | _ |
| | 95 |
| CHAPTER XII. | ,, |
| | 09 |
| , 1 1* | J J |
| 63 P | |
| 0344 Rec | |

| CHAPTER XIII. | |
|----------------------------------|-----|
| Extracting Good from Evil | 113 |
| CHAPTER XIV. | |
| Failure of the First Experiments | 118 |
| CHAPTER XV. | |
| The New Boarding House | 125 |
| CHAPTER XVI. | |
| Trouble in Earnest | 132 |
| CHAPTER XVII. | |
| Sickness | 147 |
| CHAPTER XVIII. | |
| Another Change | 155 |
| CHAPTER XIX. | |
| Conclusion | 164 |

TIRED OF HOUSEKEEPING.

CHAPTER I.

GOING TO HOUSEKEEPING.

"ONE month more, and our happiness will be complete. But how long a month seems, dear Julia!" Frank Lawton said to the fair girl who leant fondly and confidingly upon his arm.

"It does seem long. But the time will pass quickly, even while we are chiding its seeming

delay," Julia replied.

"Yes; our happy day will come soon. Four weeks is not a very long time. And now that we are on this subject, I should like to know which you would prefer: to board for a few months, or to go at once to housekeeping."

"O, I wish to go to housekeeping by all means. I think that every young couple ought to set up for themselves at once. We should begin at the beginning, as old aunt Prudence

used to say."

"Then I must look out for a house imme-

diately, and get it furnished."

"You will have but little time to spare, certainly, Frank. A month soon passes."

"I shall want you to help me select the furniture, then," the young man said. "And as soon as I get a house, I will call for you."

"O no, indeed! I could never do that."

"And why not, Julia?"

"Because it wouldn't look well, Frank."

"I am sure there is no harm in it."

"No: I don't suppose there is. But then, what would people say to a young lady's going out to select furniture a month before her marriage?"

"Why, really Julia, I don't know what they

could say. Certainly, no harm, at least."

"Indeed, indeed, Frank, I never can do it! It would look too much as if I wanted people to know that I was going to be married."

"Still, that would not be your reason."

" No."

"Then why need you care what people may happen to think. If they misunderstand a right action, and, from a censorious spirit, condemn that action, they are injuring themselves, not you. So, come, Julia, be above all such considerations, and act from your own sense of right and wrong."

"I cannot go with you, Frank, indeed I can-

not!" Julia replied, in an earnest tone.

"I do not wish to urge you in the matter," the young man said. "But it would gratify me much if you would go with me, and assist me to select at least some part of the furniture. The carpets for instance, and the parlour furniture. I am not certain that my taste would please

you. We men are not adepts in these matters, for they lie mostly out of our province. Can I not, then, persuade you to go that far?"

"O no, no, no, Frank! I cannot. It would not

look right."

"And yet, it would not be in itself wrong, any more than our walking together in the street is wrong. And as I look at it, instead of being a wrong, it would be, in every sense of the word, a right action."

"I cannot see it so, Frank."

"Then look at it in this light. Our house is to be furnished, and you are, by far, the best judge of what is wanted. The question thus becomes narrowed down to one that concerns us alone. Why, then, should we consider the opinion of others in the matter? They have nothing to do with it, and they will go out of their way if they interfere at all. If you do not select your own furniture, many articles may be purchased that will not coincide with your taste; and surely that would be a much greater evil than the mere idle expression of an opinion that it was not in good taste for you to go with me and choose such articles of furniture as pleased you."

"O, never fear but that I shall be pleased with anything you may buy, Frank. I am willing to leave it all to your taste."

"And so you will not go with me?"

"I can't, indeed, Frank."

"Well, if your mind is made up, it is no use for me to argue the point with you. Still, it would have given me great pleasure, if I could have prevailed upon you to lay aside what I cannot but esteem an objection that is founded in a wrong idea."

"You will have to buy the furniture, Frank, notwithstanding your solid arguments," Julia responded, laughing; "and so you might as well make up your mind at once. You know that a woman's conclusions are proof against all a man's most eloquent reasonings."

"Well, if I must, I suppose I must," Frank Lawton said, laughing in turn. But it was not

a very earnest laugh.

By this time the young couple had reached Julia's home, where, after a few more words, they parted. In spite of all, his efforts to find excuses for Julia, Frank Lawton could not help condemning her weak regard for the opinions of others, in a matter that in no way concerned them. His own character was manly and independent. Ever since he could exercise his rational faculties, he had been in the habit of looking within for the true criterion of action. Is it right? was a question, that, with him, decided all doubtful points. It was the square and rule of his whole life.

But now he was encountering, and about to encounter in a still stronger degree, influences that were too powerful for him. Another mind, acting almost like a new mind within his, was about to oppose and modify what had before been free and permanent. In a word, he was soon to feel the all-powerful influence of a woman he

loved, bearing to him the relation of a wife, and that woman,—though deeply attached to him, well educated, and highly accomplished,—with a mind unable to appreciate his straight-forward, honest, common-sense ideas of the world.

That he was already feeling this influence, and likewise yielding to it, will be evident when it is stated, that he had only been a few years in business, and that his capital was limited. Consequently his income was not large, and there existed a strong reason why he should be prudent in all of his expenditures. His own idea was, that it would be the right way for him and Julia to board for one or two years, until his business became more profitable; and thus avoid the immediate large outlay that would be required to furnish a house. But, when he perceived that she was so earnest about going to housekeeping, he could not find it in his heart to oppose her; thus yielding his better judgment to her wishes.

Julia Manning was an only daughter, and had, from childhood up, been subject to few privations, and no cares. She had never been taught to regard others, nor to deny herself, at times, for the sake of making others comfortable or happy. Necessarily, then, she was not fitted to fill, perfectly, the station of a wife. And yet, she had a kind, affectionate disposition. But she had not been rightly educated.

In a few days, Frank Lawton found a neat house, finished in modern style, and set himself about furnishing it. As he had no female friend whom he could consult, or in whose taste he could confide, he was compelled to select his furniture in the best way he could.

"What kind of carpets must I get?" he asked

of Julia, one evening.

"Brussels, of course," she replied. "And be

sure to get a rich pattern."

"And the chairs? I suppose I ought to get those with cane seats. I was looking at some very beautiful ones to-day."

"That is just as you like, Frank," Julia said, in a tone which indicated that she did not entirely

approve the selection.

"Would you rather have mahogany ones, with stuffed seats?" he asked, thus inviting temptation.

"They are much handsomer," Julia replied, "and add greatly to the appearance of a parlour."

"Then I will get manogany ones," he said, although he thought that a less costly kind would do just as well.

"I bought two beautiful pier-tables to-day,"

he continued.

"That was right," Julia said, her mind, as she began more fully to realize the idea of being in a house of her own, taking far more interest in what was to be in that house, than it did at first—"Pier-tables are fashionable. Have you bought your looking-glasses yet?"

" No."

"Well, you must have a pair, to fill the piers over the tables, and let them be as large as the pier will permit. And you should have lounges made for the recesses. A pair of sofas, of course, and two pairs of astral lamps with rich lustres for each of the mantel-pieces; besides a pair of large ones to set on the pier-tables. And let the curtains be of blue damask. The upholsterer will know how to make them."

"Is there anything else that you would like

for the parlours?" asked Frank Lawton.

"Nothing, except two pairs of ottomans and a centre table with a slab of Italian marble, that I think of now. Anything else that is wanted can be obtained after we are married."

All the rest of the house was left to Frank, the cabinet-maker, hardware merchant, and upholsterer, and those particular friends of the occasion, took good care that everything necessary, and something over, should be supplied. There was very little left out of two thousand five hundred dollars when the house was ready to receive the bride, which was a very important reduction of young Lawton's capital in trade, especially, as business was brisk, and he could do as much as his available means would allow.

The wedding passed off in the usual style of such affairs, and then the bride was removed to her new home, and installed in the office of mistress.

"And now, tell me how you like my taste, Julia," said the young husband, after the house and furniture had been examined, from the kitchen to the garret.

"O very much, indeed! These carpets are beautiful; and those are a splendid pair of look-

ing-glasses. Almost too large, if there is any fault."

"You know that you were particular in want-

ing them large."

"Yes, I know. And they will do admirably. How much did they cost?"

"I gave one hundred dollars a piece for them."

"Well, they are beautiful!"

"Rather too fine," thought her mother. "But

he is rich, and can afford it."

"And how do you like the furniture?" Frank said, turning to Mrs. Manning, who had made few remarks during the examination.

"I like it very much, Mr. Lawton, but ----"

"Don't come with any of your buts, Ma!" Ju-

lia interrupted her, in a laughing tone.

"O yes, speak out plainly," her husband said; "I always like the truth. I cannot believe that every thing in this house is as it should be, for I have no practical knowledge of such matters."

"Well, then," Mrs. Manning said, "in the first place, you have bought almost as much again, of nearly every thing, as you want."

"O no, Ma!" broke in Julia; "I am sure there is not an article here that is not needed in the

furnishing of a parlour."

"But the parlour, my dear," her mother replied, smiling, "is a very small portion of your house. That, in fact, which should receive your smallest consideration."

Julia was silent, for she did not exactly appreciate this idea. And the error on her mother's part, was, in not having long before made her

practically acquainted with the precept she now uttered.

- "There are more things in the kitchen," resumed Mrs. Manning, "than you will ever have use for, unless you intend giving splendid entertainments."
- "Of course we do not," Frank said, in a decided tone.

"And then, you have five chambers fully furnished, and in a costly style; and all these for

just two persons."

- "I thought that was wrong, myself," remarked Frank; "but then I left it pretty much to the cabinet-maker and upholsterer, and they said that it was customary to furnish every chamber in the house. But that is usually the way with any one who undertakes to do what he knows nothing about."
- "It would have been better, if you had turned these matters over to Julia and myself. We could have managed them much more judiciously for you."
 - "Why, Ma!" exclaimed Julia.

"And why not, my child?"

- "O, it wouldn't have done at all, for me to have been seen selecting my own furniture before I was married."
 - "I don't see anything wrong in it, Julia."

"It wouldn't have looked well, Ma; and peo-

ple would have talked about it."

"Still, my child, it would have been right; for, in doing so, you would have saved your husband an expense of several hundred dollars.

That, surely, is of much more importance, than the idle gossip of folks who want something better with which to employ their time."

"It is too late to mend it now, however," Frank Lawton said, refraining from any allusion to the fact that he had tried to persuade Julia to assist him in the selection of furniture. "And we must only profit by this little experience."

CHAPTER II.

FIRST EXPERIMENTS.

KEEPING house is quite a matter-of-fact kind of an affair, as not a few who read this can testify. And it is no mere child's play, as too many young ladies, a few weeks after marriage; have, very much to their surprise, discovered. 'With all the knowledge, tact, and patience that a thorough housewife possesses, she finds that her daily tasks require the exercise of all this store of knowledge, tact and patience. How sadly at fault then must a young creature, with no actual knowledge of domestic economy, find herself! To her it is indeed a severe trial, and often interferes seriously with her happiness; and the more so, in proportion to her false and romantic ideas of the marriage state.

How strange and censurable an error is that



into which so large a proportion of American mothers fall in regard to their daughters! Music and dancing, and French and Italian, are deemed indispensable. While too often, not even a smattering of domestic economy is given .- As if no practical duties as wives and mothers were ever to devolve upon them. Into this almost unpardonable error did Mrs. Manning fall in bringing up Julia. A thorough housewife herself, she yet neglected to induct her daughter into its necessary details. Thus, when she became mistress of a house, she knew nothing of the art and mystery of keeping a house. not hake a loaf of bread herself, nor teach a servant how to do it. A pudding or a custard she might indeed manage. But to boil a potato well, or properly roast a piece of meat, or make a wholesome and palatable soup, was beyond her culinary skill.

And here I would allude to a false idea which has begun to prevail, growing out of the effort which has been made to elevate woman to her right position of intelligence and influence in the community, that it is a perversion of her true character and office to make her thoroughly and practically acquainted with the details of domestic life—with the drudgery of the kitchen, as it is sometimes called by these ultraists, to give force to their declamations.

Here is, indeed, a fundamental error, and its fallacious reasonings have already begun to operate injuriously upon the true domestic interests of the community. It is wrong for a woman to

2*

busy herself in her kitchen and chambers, to the utter neglect of intellectual culture, and the social amenities of life; but it is still more wrong for her to give exclusive attention to the latter, and utterly neglect the former—because in the former are involved her first and most important duties.

As we often see things by contrast that were not palpable before, it may not be amiss to introduce a contrast here. Take, then, the condition His first duty is to provide and duties of a man. for his family, and this he must do by entering into business, and giving to it, for many hours in the day, a careful and exclusive attention. No social pleasures or intellectual pursuits must interfere with this first and most important of duties. It will not do for him to say that the drudgery of business is beneath the dignity of his nature. Equally absurd then, and fraught with error, is the doctrine which teaches that woman is degraded by an earnest daily application to, and interest in, her domestic concerns. No woman is degraded, but is actually in her true sphere of action, while thus engaged in performing the duties which promote the comfort and happiness of those dependent for those offices upon her. And how much does the comfort and happiness of her husband and children depend upon this care and attention which she gives to her household!

How strange then is it, that we find so many wives and mothers willing to transfer their most sacred duties to servants, who, in too rare instances, regard anything beyond the hire of their labour!

Two servants, a cook and a chambermaid, had been procured by Mr. Lawton; but of their qualifications to fill these respective offices, he, of course, knew nothing. He supposed that so soon as Julia took her true position as mistress of the family, all would go on right and orderly. As far as his knowledge went, he procured provisions, but only in a limited degree, awaiting the more judicious and practical directions in these matters which his wife would be able to give him.

For the first few days, of course, the young couple had a good deal of company; and in the expectation of this, Mrs. Manning came every day and "gave an eye to things." She told Frank what it was necessary to buy for the table, and directed the cook how to prepare her dishes; and more than this, saw that everything went on right, and that the meals were ready in proper season. But this was only for a few days.

Towards the end of the first week, Julia was left sole mistress of her own house. And now, let us see how she filled her new station.

"What shall I get for dinner, ma'am?" asked the cook, opening the parlour door about ten o'clock, where Julia sat reading, on the first day that she had found herself alone since the wedding.

The young wife looked up with something of surprise in her countenance, and then, after a

moment's pause to collect her ideas, thrown suddenly into confusion, said,

"I am sure I don't know, Rachel. I want you to attend to that matter. You are the cook."

"Yes, ma'am, but I always like to know what the madam wants cooked. And besides, there is nothing in the house but salt meat."

"You should have mentioned that this morning, Rachel, before Mr. Lawton went out," Julia said, her tone of voice and expression of countenance indicating that she felt annoyed.

"I would have done it, ma'am," the cook replied, respectfully, "but I thought you knew it."

"Thought I knew it, Rachel! Why, how could I know it, when I haven't been in the kitchen but once since I came into the house?"

Poor Rachel stood in perplexity for a few moments, and then said.

"But what shall I do, ma'am?"

"You must do the best you can, Rachel, for I am sure I don't know any thing about these matters."

And so Rachael withdrew, and returned to the kitchen, while Mrs. Lawton resumed her book. After reading until she grew tired, she sat down to her piano, which had been removed from her old to her new home, and played three or four recent and favourite pieces of music. But she tired of this also, and then she placed herself at the window, and spent the next two hours in looking out, and wishing for Frank's return.

In the meantime, Rachel, after much consideration, for she had never before been left to plan her work as well as perform it, finally resolved, as there were several hams in the cellar, that she would boil part of one of these, with cabbage and potatoes. As to dessert, that had always been prepared by the mistress of the house where she had lived heretofore, and she had, consequently, no skill in this department. She did not therefore attempt anything beyond the meat, cabbage and potatoes.

At the regular dinner hour, Frank came home, and was met at the door by the smiling, happy creature, the sunshine of whose heart was the

light of his countenance.

"O, it has seemed so long, Frank, since you went away!" she said, leaning her arm upon his shoulder, and looking fondly into his face. "I thought two o'clock would never come. You must stay with me this afternoon, for I feel so lonesome, now Ma has gone, and all the rest of the pleasant company we have had."

"I should like to stay home with you very much, Julia," Frank replied, kissing her fair young cheek; "but my business requires a great deal of my attention now, and I cannot neglect

it, even for a single afternoon."

"Not even for the sake of your wife's com-

pany!" Julia said.

"I would do anything for her sake that was not wrong. Neglected duties, my dear Julia, never bring happiness. Even your society would fail to delight me, if I endeavoured to enjoy it at the expense of a known duty."

"You are a strange one, Frank!" his young

wife responded, laughing gaily. "And I must own, that I do not always see the force of your positions, or the truth of your precepts. But I love you, for all, as no woman ever loved her husband; and if you will love me in return, that is all that I care for."

"And do I not love you, dear Julia! with devoted tenderness?"

"O yes! But you love business a little more, now don't you? Come, confess the truth!" she said in a light, laughing tone; but in that tone, the ear of Frank Lawton could detect something which told his heart too plainly, that Julia did not feel satisfied with his preference of business over her society.

"Indeed, Julia," he said, with something of seriousness in his voice, "I would much prefer to remain at home with you; but it would be wrong for me to do so, when there is an absolute necessity for my being at the store. That which is our duty, should always take the precedence. Unless it does, no effort to obtain happiness can ever be successful."

"But I could be happy in your society all the while, Frank, and never think of duty."

"Could you?"

"Certainly I could."

"There you are mistaken, Julia; and the experience of a few years, perhaps a few months, will show you your error. But I do not want to read you a lecture; and so I will change the subject."

"Well, what next?"

"Why, how soon will dinner be ready? I have been hard at work this morning, and have

got quite a keen appetite."

"Î'm sure I don't know," Julia replied. "But I will ring for Rachel, and tell her to put it on the table immediately, if she is not already doing so."

"Is dinner on the table yet, Rachel?" she asked of the cook, who made her appearance in

a moment or two.

"O no, Ma'am, it aint near done yet; but I will get it ready as soon as possible."

"Be as quick as you can, Rachel," Frank

said, "for I want my dinner."

"Yes, sir," Rachel replied in a respectful

tone, and left the room.

"I can't say that I am very sorry, Frank; for now I shall keep you here half an hour or so longer than you would have otherwise staid," his wife said, patting his cheek with her small white hand.

"Well, what can't be cured must be endured; as the adage says. But this won't do for every day. There is nothing that I like so well as punctuality, and if you want to do what will give your husband especial pleasure, keep Rachel to the minute in the preparation of her meals."

"I will if I can, Frank," the young wife said, in a changed and somewhat serious tone. "But it is hardly possible to make servants punctual

and orderly in their movements."

"Still, it can be done, Julia, and the result is worth all the effort required to produce it."

"But it can't be, Frank, unless one follows them up all the while, and sees that every thing

is done just so, and to the minute."

To this the young husband did not reply, for the meaning it conveyed was too palpable not to be understood. It became at once evident, that Julia had no idea of the duties, which, as a matter of course, devolved upon her. This was a painful discovery. But he concealed its unpleasant effect upon his mind, for he could not chill the happy heart of her he loved by any condemnation of the want of interest that she manifested in the domestic economy of her family.

After the passage of about three quarters of an hour, dinner was announced; and the young

couple repaired to the dining-room.

"Ham, cabbage, and potatoes; and nothing else, as I live!" exclaimed Julia, after they were seated at the table, and she had glanced her eye over it.

"And I feel as if I could do justice to all three of them," Frank replied, as he took up the carving knife, and sunk it into the fine ham before him. "But I believe it is not more than half done, after all," he added, lifting a slice upon his fork. "But never mind, I can manage to get out a few slices from the thinner part that will do."

"But it is too bad for Rachel to do so!" Julia said, ringing the table-bell; and in a few moments the individual she had named made her appearance.

"Why, Rachel, this ham isn't near done!"

"I was afraid it wouldn't be, ma'am," Rachel replied; "it was so late when I put it on."

"Then you should have put it on earlier."

"And so I would, ma'am, if I had known that we were to have ham for dinner to-day."

There was a pause of a moment, when Frank

said.

"Well, it's too late to remedy it now, Rachel. You must only try and do better next time."

After the cook had retired, the young couple proceeded to satisfy the demands of hunger with the plain food before them, Julia ever and anon blaming the cook for not having prepared some-

thing more inviting for dinner.

"I hardly think it was her fault, Julia," her husband said; "for now that I come to think of it, she had little else in the house. It was an oversight in me, not to have seen that provision was made for this meal. But, like you, it is all new to me. However, we will both learn by and by."

"She has something nice for dessert to make up for it, I suppose;" and Julia again rung the

bell.

"You can clear off the table, and bring in the dessert, Rachel."

"I havn't got any dessert, ma'am." And Rachel, as she said so, looked confused and troubled.

"But how comes that?" asked Mrs. Lawton.

"I have never made the puddings and pies where I lived," Rachel replied; "and I don't know much about that kind of work."

"Who did make them then?" inquired Julia.

"O, the mistress of the house always made

the pastry, and everything like that.

Julia did not reply; and as Frank rose from the table, she got up also, and followed him into the parlour.

"Did you ever see such assurance as that?" she said, in an indignant tone, as she closed the

parlour door after her.

"I hardly think you ought to call it assurance, Julia. Rachel, I think, did the best she knew how."

"But I wonder if she thinks I am going down into the kitchen every day to do her work? If she does, she is mistaken. I don't believe a word of the story about the mistresses of families where she has lived always making the dessert. I am not going to do it, I know. And if she doesn't understand her business, I must get some one who does, that is all!"

"I think I would try and bear with her, Julia," Frank said, in a quiet, soothing tone. "She appears willing, good-natured, and respectful. And these are qualities not often found, I believe, in

servants."

"But it won't do to have things in this condi-

tion every day, Frank."

"No, but I think we may easily remedy the present evil. I must see that everything that is wanted is in the house, and by your giving a little attention to Rachel, all will no doubt go on well."

The first part of this was plain enough to Julia,

but she could not so readily comprehend the latter, for she had never given the cares and duties of housekeeping, as they really are, demanding much of a woman's time and attention, a single serious thought.

After a pause, she said,

"But surely, Frank, you do not wish me, just for the sake of humouring Rachel, to go into the

kitchen, and work like a servant?"

"How can you think so, Julia? I am sure I had no such meaning. All I intended by my remark, was, that by your overlooking Rachel, every day, for a little while, all difficulty would be remedied."

But Julia felt not the least inclination to do so. Indeed, she always had a great distaste for any duty connected with the kitchen. And could not help thinking her young husband a little unreasonable. He perceived, instinctively, how the whole matter was considered by his wife; and said no more upon the subject; determining, in his own mind, to provide as far as possible in reference to Rachel's abilities as cook, and to be willing to bear every irregularity with as much patience as possible.

"It will all come right by and by," he thought.
"Her good sense will teach her what are her real duties, and until then, I must be willing to

make any sacrifices for her sake."

After her husband returned to his store, and Julia was again left alone, she did not feel so happy as she did during the morning, for added to the fact of her being deprived of the company of her husband, there was a consciousness that he thought her somewhat neglectful of her domestic duties.

"But surely," she said to herself, heaving a long sigh, as she came out of a troubled reverie, "he cannot wish to see me toil like a servant in the kitchen!"

Frank Lawton had his thoughts also; and though a little disposed to blame his young wife for her disinclination to enter upon matter-of-fact household duties, yet his true affection for her caused him to excuse this as far as possible, and trust to the salutary influence of time and circumstance.

Thus we see, that within the first week of their married life, Mr. and Mrs. Lawton were experiencing a degree of unhappiness, small it is true, but still palpable, arising from neglected duty.

And thus, in all the relations of life, does unhappiness follow, as surely as effect follows cause, the evasion of duty. If the neglect be broad and predetermined, the result will be correspondingly painful. If it regard little things, and appear in the form of thoughtless omissions, pain of mind, though indistinct, and seemingly causeless, will come with unerring certainty. This is a moral law, as unchangeable as any physical law.

CHAPTER III.

MORNING CALLS.

On the next morning the young husband went to market, accompanied by Thomas, the porter of his store, and performed this new and very essential duty to the best of his ability. But, instead of informing his wife of the kinds of meat, vegetables, &c. that he had purchased, and resigning to her all future care in relation to them, he explained to Rachel, the cook, as far as he could, no doubt awkwardly enough, in what order and manner to prepare them for the table. Not, indeed, precisely how she should cook them, for that would have exceeded his knowledge; he merely gave such general directions as would enable her to get along withcut the necessity of referring to the young mistress of the parlour-for beyond that Mrs. Lawton had not yet deemed it required of her to extend any particular jurisdiction.

But, from the previous day's experience, and and the slight uneasiness of mind occasioned thereby, she had gained a small portion of wisdom. Notwithstanding she thought that her husband was a little unreasonable in his too evident desire to see her give some attention to the movements of Rachel, yet the knowledge that this desire existed, partially modified her actions, as will be seen.

On this morning she intended going out for 3*

the purpose of making a number of calls. As she was on her way up to her chamber to dress, the dinner scene of the previous day came up fresh before her mind, and she remembered Rachel's remarks about the dessert. She paused on the stairway, and stood there for a minute or two, musing and irresolute. A duty was presented to her mind, that she was inclined to evade. It was a plain and simple duty, and one that she could easily perform, being nothing more than the preparation of a pudding or tart for dinner. Finally duty gained the victory, and she descended to the kitchen, reluctantly enough, and in the course of some fifteen or twenty minutes, had a pudding ready for the After transferring it to Rachel, with directions for baking it, she charged her to be sure and have dinner on the table by two o'clock.

Rachel promised in a cheerful tone, for this little effort of Mrs. Lawton's had somewhat inspirited her, and then the young mistress went up to her chamber and prepared to go out, with feelings whose lightness she enjoyed, but did not pretend to account for.

pretend to account for.

Among her acquaintances was a Mrs. Campbell, who had been married some two or three years, and upon her Julia called on this morning.

"O, I am so glad to see you, Julia! Mrs. Campbell said. "How have you been? And how

do you like your new house?"

"O, very well. How could it be otherwise?
"True enough! And you are as happy as any

young bride in the land! But don't be too much elated. Life has its bitter as well as its sweet portion, and you will have to take your share."

This was said in a light, trifling tone and manner, that contradicted the truism she uttered.

"Of course!" Julia responded, smiling gaily in return. "But I shall take as little of the bitter

as possible."

"Ah! you are a true philosopher, I see. Well, that is right. Take things easy as you move along, and then you will have things easy. But, if you go to burying yourself alive in cares and household duties, your spirits will be broken, and you will become as dull and uninteresting as any notable housewife in the land."

"Never fear on that score for me, Mrs. Campbell. I have no particular affection for these matters. I have a cook, and to her I shall leave the business of the kitchen. Though I did humour her so far this morning, as to make a

pudding."

"There you were wrong, Julia. If you assist these creatures in the smallest way, they will look for you to be ever helping them. So take the advice of a friend, and let your cook attend to her own duties. You will have trouble, if you don't."

"I felt as if I were doing wrong when I went into the kitchen," Julia replied. "But then, she made such a bungling work of dinner yesterday, that I was afraid to trust her. She gave us no dessert, and when I wanted to know the reason, said that where she had lived before, the lady

of the house always prepared the puddings and the pies."

"Indeed!"

"Yes; that was what she said."

"She has not lived with me then," Mrs. Campbell said, laughing heartily. "For I never do more than tell my cook what I want. I have enough to occupy my time, without drudging in the kitchen."

"But does every thing go on well? Are your meals always ready in time, and properly cooked?"

"About once a week or so," Mrs. Campbell said, with mock gravity. Then, changing her tone to one of affected surprise, she continued, "You have got it all to learn yet, I see, Julia. And I only hope, for your sake, that Mr. Lawton is not one of your very particular, minute men; for if he is, he will worry you half to death. There will be a constant alternation of sunshine. clouds, and rain, for the first year or so, and then matters will settle down into something like quietness. Mr. Campbell tried me severely for a time. He wanted to persuade me that it was my duty to go into the kitchen every day, and see that the cook attended to her business: to tell her when to put dinner on, and see that it was ready in season, and all that-and thus have everything go on like clock-work to suit his notions of matters and things. But I wasn't going to make a slave of myself in that way; and I told him so, plainly. He fretted and fumed

for awhile, but soon got over it, and now gives

me no more trouble about these things."

Julia did not feel shocked at all this, and I am sorry to have to say so. Indeed, she more than once thought of Frank, and some of his too plain allusions on the day previous to what he thought to be her duties, with a feeling very near allied to contempt. But this was only momentary.

Her next call was upon another friend, also

married, by the name of Mrs. Watson.

"And so you have begun life in earnest," Mrs. Watson said, after the first greetings and congratulations were over. "And begun, too, in a house of your own. Well, you will have your hands full, that is all I can say about it. You had better, by a great deal, have taken genteel boarding somewhere. I only wish that I could persuade my husband to break up, even now, and go to boarding."

"What, with your three children?" asked

Julia, in surprise.

"Certainly. Wouldn't I have as much time again to attend to them, and then not have to work half so hard as I do now? In a boarding-house, you have nothing to do but take care of your own room. No trouble about breakfast, dinner, and supper, to say nothing of looking after the whole house. O, dear! I wonder people will keep house, any how! But men are so selfish, that they will make slaves of their wives, just to have a comfortable home to sit down in and do nothing, every evening when they come home from their business."

"I almost wish I had conversed with you on this subject before," said Julia, musingly. "For I must confess that, now Ma has gone home, a single day's experience is enough to convince me, that the care of a whole house is no light affair."

"Indeed, and it is not, Julia! It is go, go, go, from morning until night, and then not get through. The fact is, a woman's work is never done, while a man has nothing to do but sit down and read, after he comes home from business in the evening. And then he must have a whole house to do that in, when a single parlour and bedchamber, in a respectable boarding-house, would be just as pleasant for him, and far more economical, to say nothing of the relief from unnecessary cares that it would bring to his wife. But, oh no! She is not to be considered at all in the matter. She is nothing. But I'll manage it yet! I'll make this house too hot to hold my good man, one of these days, see if I don't!"

Mrs. Watson was not a woman of confirmed bad principles. She was only chafed at the many duties which, as mistress of a family, devolved necessarily upon her, and which she performed under the compulsive idea of necessity. She really loved her husband, but had thought him, from the first, a little selfish and unreasonable in his immoveable resolution to live in a house of his own, when it would have been so much pleasanter and easier for her, she imagined, if they had boarded.

Whenever, therefore, the subject of household

cares and duties came up for consideration, she would ride her hobby until the blood warmed up almost to fever heat, and then she would talk something after the strain of her conversation with Julia.

It is but just to say, that, to Julia, her language in reference to her husband did not seem in place, nor at all consistent with the character of a wife. Still, the idea of boarding, with its promised relief from household cares, made its impression upon her mind.

Julia's next call was upon a Mrs. Logan, a friend who had been married some two or three years. Her character will appear in their in-

terview.

"Ah, Julia, or Mrs. Lawton, as it is now, how do you do? I am right down glad to see you. You have passed the Rubicon, as they say, and now you are 'one of us.' Well, how do you like your new condition?"

"Very well, of course, so far. But you know

I have everything to learn."

"Yes, and a little more too, as the saying is. The married life has its pleasures, and its cares and troubles, and which of these overbalances the other, I am sure I cannot say."

"And yet, Mrs. Logan, you would not, if it were in your power, resume your single condi-

tion."

"There you are right, Julia. Nor if the cares and troubles, as I call them, were doubled in number."



"Then I should conclude that they were far

overbalanced by the former."

"Well, no doubt they are. But, sometimes, you know, when we look on the dark side of things, all the sunshine is obscured."

"It ought to be a happy condition," Julia said.
"For in it we have our heart's most fervent desire, the society of the one we cherish in our

affections above all others."

"And yet, Julia," Mrs. Logan remarked, "I have thus early in my married life learned the painful, but, I believe, salutary lesson, that the society of one we love cannot, and will not, alone, make us happy."

"You talk in riddles, Mrs. Logan."

"Do I? Well, you will find their solution one

of these days."

"Why, I am sure, Mrs. Logan, that I should be the happiest creature in the world, if I could spend every hour of the day with Mr. Lawton: it is only his absence that leaves a single shadow upon my feelings."

Just then the parlour door was opened by the

servant, and a visiter entered.

"Good morning, Mrs. Emerson," said Mrs. Logan, advancing, and offering her hand. "You see that I have got the bride with me," presenting Julia.

"So you have; and right glad I am to meet her," Mrs. Emerson replied, taking Julia's hand,

and giving it an earnest, truthful pressure.

Mrs. Emerson was a widow lady, somewhat advanced in life; of a mild and benevolent dis-

position, united with much experience and great good sense. There were few with whom she associated who did not like her—or, perhaps, the stronger term of "love" would better express the sentiment. After she was seated, Mrs. Logan said,

"Julia and I were talking, just as you came in, about the happiness connected with the married life. She thinks that the society of her husband alone, is all that is required to make her happy in her new condition. But I tell her, that time will prove this idea to be an erroneous one."

"Âm I not right, Mrs. Emerson?" Julia asked, as soon as Mrs. Logan ceased speaking.

"No, Julia, you are far from being right," Mrs. Emerson replied. "Our friend, Mrs. Logan here, had the same idea at one time, but she has long since proved it to be a false one. The discovery is by no means pleasant, but it teaches a salutary lesson, making us better and wiser."

"I must confess," Julia said, "that I cannot understand your meaning. I love my husband, and am never so happy as when he is by my side. My delight is in the thought that he loves me, and that alone, with his presence, consti-

tutes my greatest felicity."

"That is only the appearance of truth, Julia," was Mrs. Emerson's answer. "But the real truth is, that only in the discharge of all the duties appertaining to your new relation, can you possibly find happiness. If any of these are neglected, unhappiness will follow, in spite of all the deep and pure affection that lives in both your

hearts. I see by your countenance that you do not appreciate the sentiment I utter. I most sincerely wish that you did, and that, by acting up to it, you would secure for yourself that measure of enjoyment in the married life that you so fondly expect."

"But I am sure of being happy, Mrs. Emer-

son."

"The greater the danger of disappointment, Julia."

"Really, if I were to be influenced by what I have heard this morning, I would give up in despair. I made two calls before I came in here, and at both of the places I was met by homilies on the troubles, and trials, and duties of the married life."

"Not for the world would I discourage you, my dear Julia!" Mrs. Emerson said, with affectionate earnestness. "In what I have said, I have been moved by a sincere desire to impart the truth, that in obedience to it, you might secure the great enjoyments and inestimable blessings of the married life. But you are too happy now, under the first delightful emotions of your new condition. By and by, when your heart ceases, in a degree, its joyful tremulousness, and gives sober thought a little room for action, I may be better understood." Then rising, she added,

"Come and see me, Julia, often. I should like to converse with you freely, for I think I can give you a little of my experience that will be beneficial to you." Julia promised; when, bidding her two young friends a kind good morning, Mrs. Emerson left them again alone.

"I think more of Mrs. Emerson than any woman I know," Mrs. Logan said, after she had

seen her friend to the door.

"And I cannot help liking her. She always

seems so kind and unselfish."

"And what is more," remarked Mrs. Logan, "although she has seen much trouble in her time, there is about her nothing morose—nothing of murmuring. She seems ever cheerful, and ever desirous of imparting to others the secret of her cheerfulness. I have enjoyed her society much of late, and it has been of great advantage to me. I hope you will call upon her often, and encourage her to visit you."

"I certainly shall," Julia said, "as I have always liked her. And I think I would enjoy her society better, if she did not talk so much about duty. For my part, I must confess, that I have

but little affection for the word."

"And yet, Julia, it is a word that has much to do with our happiness."

"I am yet to learn in what way."

"You will learn before long, Julia."

"Will I? Well, perhaps I may. But I must be going. The morning has passed away rapidly, and it is now near dinner time."

CHAPTER IV.

FIRST DEMONSTRATIONS.

"I DON'T think I shall stay here after my month is up," Rachel said to the chambermaid, during the morning on which Mrs. Lawton was making her calls.

"Why not?"

"Because I am sure that I shall not be able

to please Mrs. Lawton."

"I don't think she's hard to please at all," the chambermaid replied. "She's never given me

a single direction since I've been here."

"That is the difficulty, Sally. If she would look after things a little, and tell me how she wanted them done, I could get along well enough. But while it is all left to me, I am never sure that I am going right or wrong. Yesterday the dinner did not please them, and I know that I was blamed. But it was no fault of mine."

"I find it easy enough," Sally responded, "for I can do as I please, and that is what I like. Mrs. Lawton is not the woman to poke about in

holes and corners for dirt and dust."

"If it is all to your mind, Sally, I am sure I have no objections; but, as I said, it won't suit me. I will do my best, until my month is up, and then, if there has been no change, I shall certainly leave. People like Mrs. Lawton never have any consideration for us; and it always discourages me to be treated as if I had no feel-

ing. I've lived with ladies before now who seemed afraid to put their foot into the kitchen, and they were the hardest to please of any people that I ever met."

"I don't know," Sally replied, "but it seems to me that you couldn't get an easier place than this. Only two persons to cook for, and your own way into the bargain, about everything."

"I never was afraid of work, Sally, and it isn't that that discourages me. I had rather give satisfaction, if I have to work twice as hard."

"But when things can't be mended, you

ought to take them easy."

"That may do for you, Sally; but I haven't so easy a way of getting along as you have. I may be wrong, but I can't help it. If everything don't go on smooth and quiet, I am in hot water all the while."

"But how do you know, Rachel, that things won't go on smooth and quiet here? I am sure

there is nothing to prevent it."

"As I said before, Sally, I've lived in my time with ladies who had a mortal hatred of the kitchen; which was, in most cases, because they didn't know how to do anything when they came into it. It was no use to try to please them, because they didn't know how to make allowance for any thing that happened to go wrong; and things will go wrong, sometimes, in spite of any one. If dinner came on the table ten or fifteen minutes too late, and the husband grumbled, the cook had to bear the blame of

being indifferent, or lazy, or inattentive to her business, when, perhaps, her fire had burned badly in spite of all she could do, or she had, though anxious to do right, slightly miscalculated her time. But it is very different where the mistress of a family has an eye over every thing. Then she knows whether a cook tries to do her duty, and will never blame one who honestly endeavours to do right. And besides, we always feel more confidence when the lady herself is occasionally about, saying how she wants this thing done, or that; and giving such general directions as will always keep us from going wrong. But there is the bell, Sally. I suppose Mrs. Lawton has come home."

Sally answered the bell, and the young mistress entered her new home, with feelings somewhat different from those which swelled her bosom, when her foot first touched its threshold. The experience of a single day, in which she had been made to feel some domestic responsibilities, added to the gossip of two or three grumbling and discontented housekeepers, had opened to her mind a new world of thought. Already had the words, "I wish I had advised Frank to take rooms at a genteel boarding-house," formed themselves in her mind, and been inwardly expressed, thus giving to them a partial confirmation.

In a few minutes her husband came in, and found her sitting in one of the parlours in a musing attitude, with her bonnet unremoved.

"Sitting alone, and pensive!" Frank said, in

a lively tone, as he entered; and the honey-moon not half over."

"But I'm in right down earnest, though, for

all," was the half-laughing reply.

"Or trying to be. Well, as there are to be no secrets between us, suppose you relate to me the cause of this painful state of your mind. Perhaps I can help you to a happy thought or two."

"But I tell you, I'm in earnest, Frank."

"Are you indeed? But I am sure I did'nt dispute it. Seriously, however, I wish to know if anything does really trouble you."

"I do feel a little troubled, Frank."

- "I am truly sorry to hear you say so. But, perhaps, if you will tell me why you feel uneasy, I can say or do something that will remove that uneasiness."
- "I am afraid you will think me weak and foolish, Frank."
- "Don't fear that, Julia," said he, taking her hand affectionately. "I can never think you either weak or foolish. Tell me, then, frankly, why you have unpleasant feelings."

"To be honest then with you, as I always wish to be, I am afraid, that in consenting to take upon myself the care of a house, I have undertaken more than I can well perform."

"That is a strange idea, Julia," Frank said, smiling. "Where in the world did it come

from ?"

"I suppose it came, in part, from some ladies



whom I visited this morning, and who gave me a short account of their domestic grievances."

"Indeed! That was kind, truly!"

"Perhaps it was not exactly the best way of entertaining a young beginner like myself. Still, that doesn't alter the facts of the case any. The trials and difficulties incident to housekeeping which they related, were no doubt all true."

"That may all be, Julia. But the facts were incident, I presume, to their own household economy, and in no way connected, necessarily,

with yours."

"Yes, but the two or three on whom I called, bore the same testimony. And they said that every one had these troubles, because it was impossible to obtain good and intelligent servants."

"But your mother, I believe, never has these difficulties."

"No, I believe not. I have never heard her complain, at least not very often. But then, you see, she is always looking after her servants, and takes good care that everything is done as she wishes it."

"And it is for that very reason, I suppose, Julia, that your mother is not troubled in the way that those ladies you speak of are. If they would look after the domestic arrangements of their families as carefully as she does, they would find as little cause of complaint."

"Yes, but she gives a great deal too much at

tention to her family concerns."

"Not more than is required, I presume, to make all around her comfortable."

"No, I suppose not."

"Then, I cannot think that she pays any too much attention to these matters. And I am sure that she seems always cheerful, and enjoys good health."

To this Julia could perceive in her mind no fitting reply, and so she paused for a few moments, and then rising to go to her chamber for the purpose of changing her dress before dinner, said, as she moved towards the door,

"I don't know much about these things, Frank,

but I suppose I will learn by and by."

It so happened that when dinner was served up, it was in time, and well cooked. The few general directions given to Rachel in the morning, by Mr. Lawton, which did not cost him five minutes' thought, nor occupy him over a minute in imparting them, and the making of the pudding by Mrs. Lawton, were just sufficient aid to enable her to do all that was required, in proper time and in proper order.

Of course, Julia felt a little encouraged by a result, which, to obtain every day, would have cost her but a small portion of care and attention. But she did not feel inclined to give this, for it was irksome to her. Her mind was averse to the assumption of any care, and she was not able to appreciate the duty which was involved in such an assumption. Consequently, only a day or two passed before there was cause of dissatisfaction and complaint. This Rachel bore

with all the patience that she could call to her aid, which was not a great deal, for, though possessed of an honest intention, and natural good sense, she had not enjoyed many advantages of either mental or moral culture, and had not, in consequence, much self-control, founded in true principles of action. She soon, therefore, became tried beyond endurance.

CHAPTER V.

TROUBLE WITH SERVANTS.

"I DON'T think you try to do, Rachel," said Mrs. Lawton, in no very kind tone, one day, near the close of her cook's first month. "This is the second time this week that we have had dinner too late, and no dessert into the bargain. I don't see any occasion for this, for it is just as easy to do a thing right as wrong."

Rachel knew that the dinner had been badly cooked, and she knew that Mrs. Lawton was not pleased at her for not preparing a dessert, for neither of which she was, on the score of carelessness or neglect, to blame, and she felt a good

deal chafed in mind.

"I do the best I can, Mrs. Lawton," she replied, in a tone that was rather sharp and positive. "Come, now, I don't want any of your impertinence. Rachel." Mrs. Lawton said, indignantly.

This somewhat cooled, at the same time that it deeply wounded the feelings of the cook. She had not intended to be impertinent, and did not wish to bear such an imputation. She therefore responded, in a calmer tone,

"I did not mean to be impertinent, Mrs. Law-

ton; I only said ----"

"Well, I don't want to hear what you said! And I won't be answered back by any servant in my house!" Mrs. Lawton replied, in an excited tone; "I complained of the dinner's not being well cooked, and I shall expect you, hereafter, to give more attention to what you are doing. You can cook well, that I know."

And so saying, the young mistress swept out of the kitchen. As she closed the door after her, poor Rachel burst into tears, and sitting down upon a chair, covered her face with her hands, and sobbed long and violently. At the age of ten years she had been left an orphan. Up to that time, none could have been more tenderly raised, but thenceforward she knew little of kindness beyond the orphan's limited portion. Still. the remembrance of earlier days ever lived like a green spot in her memory, and modified her whole character and feelings. It acted like a conservative principle in her moral nature, elevating her thoughts, and keeping her free from the too many contaminating influences incident to her condition in life. Her feelings had always been exceedingly sensitive, so much so, that the least

dissatisfaction on the part of any one for whom

she was working, made her unhappy.

After sitting for about ten minutes, during which time the agitation of her mind gradually subsided, she rose up, and went about the performance of her duties as usual; but there was in her countenance a thoughtful and resolved

expression.

In the mean time, Mrs. Lawton had her own thoughts and her own feelings, and they were by no means of the pleasantest kind. She had suffered herself to become excited, and this state of excitement she had exhibited before her servant. She felt, consequently, but did not suffer the feeling to arise into a thought, that she had lowered that servant's estimation of her, and this worried her. And besides this, there was a consciousness that she had not acted with justice towards that servant; and still further, a consciousness of diminished self-respect.

It cannot, therefore, be supposed, that she was in a very happy frame of mind when Frank returned home in the evening. Her troubled looks

at once attracted his attention.

"Is anything the matter, Julia?" he asked,

tenderly.

"Nothing," replied the young wife, "except that I have been tried out of all patience with Rachel."

"I am very sorry to hear that, Julia. I was much in hopes that, with some looking after, you would find in Rachel all that you wanted."

Now, those two little words, "looking after,"

had a specific meaning when uttered by the husband, and Julia felt that they had. And this annoved her still more. For there was in them. it seemed to her, a rebuke for not having given the required attention to her domestic concerns. Not that such a rebuke was really intended to be conveyed—the object was, merely to utter a truth, in the hope that it would be rightly appreciated. She, therefore, replied with some warmth.

"I don't know that I could have looked after her any more than I have. I am sure that I have made all the pastry and such things for her for the last ten days, though I got no thanks for it."

"I didn't say, Julia," Frank responded in a soothing tone, "that you had not looked after Rachel sufficiently; I only said, that with a little looking after, I had hoped you would find her all that you desired. But don't let so little a thing worry you. Try to bear with her, and excuse her faults. I think she means to do the best she can."

"Well, I don't, then," said the offended young housekeeper, "for when I tried to talk with her this afternoon, she was as stiff and impudent as she could be; and that is what I am not going to put up with from any one in my house. I am resolved to be mistress here, and when things are not done as I want them, I shall speak about it."

"In that you are right, Julia. Only you must use this right with discretion. But I see that I am worrying your mind, and so I will say no more. Your own good sense and discrimination will, I am sure, cause you to do everything for the best. So brighten up now, and forget all

your little annoyances."

The presence of her husband, with his cheerful air, and ready power to interest her, soon chased the cloud from the brow of Julia, and she was again the happy young wife. But this cheerful temper was not to remain long. Towards the middle of the forenoon of the next day, she descended to the kitchen, under the impulse of the idea, that if she would prevent trouble, she had better see a little after the movements of Rachel.

"Get me some flour and butter, Rachel," she said, as she entered the kitchen; and these articles were promptly brought to her. Several other things that were named, were also supplied, while she stood, inactive, until the various articles she had named were laid before her. She then proceeded to compound some article of dessert, with a daintiness of manner that indicated her true thoughts, that such an occupation was entirely below one in her condition. While thus engaged, Rachel approached her respectfully, and said—

"I think it right, Mrs. Lawton, to tell you, thus early, that I cannot stay with you longer

than this month."

"Very well, Rachel, you can do as you please," was Mrs. Lawton's reply, made in an offended tone, for she still felt unkindly to-

wards her cook; and though she did not wish her to go, she instantly resolved that she would not ask her to stay, or give her the least intimation that she entertained such a thought.

The reply of Mrs. Lawton touched Rachel, and made her feel still more uncomfortable. But it had the effect to increase her desire to

be away.

After Mrs. Lawton had finished what she was engaged in, she retired to her chamber in no very pleasant mood of mind, which was not improved by reflection. When her husband came home, he found that there was a cloud upon her brow. He of course inquired the reason.

"Rachel is going away as soon as her month is up, and I am sure I do not know what I shall do!" was her reply, in a gloomy tone of voice.

"She is? Really, I am sorry to hear that. What can be the reason of it?"

"I am sure that I don't know. Though I suppose it is because I talked to her yesterday about her negligence. But that is just the way with them all. If you let them do as you please, all will go on to their satisfaction. But the moment you say a word, it is all over. They will either give you impudence in return, or look out immediately for another place."

"I wouldn't let it disturb me, Julia," Frank said, soothingly. "Rachel will, no doubt, change her mind in a day or two, and then all will go on

well again."

"And if she does, there will be the same trou-

ble to go over again every few weeks. If she don't do as I want her to, and I speak about it, there will be another flare up, and so I will be kept in hot water all the while. I declare I feel almost discouraged at the prospect. How much better it would have been, Frank, if we had taken boarding instead of going to housekeeping."

"I thought, myself, it would have been better; but then you said that you would prefer house-

keeping."

"I know I did. And foolish enough I was! But I hope it is not too late yet. How much pleasanter it would be, Frank, if we were clear of all this trouble of servants, and the care of a whole house."

"It might be pleasant in some respects, Julia, but unpleasant in many more. Now that we are comfortably settled in a house of our own, it would be a great folly for us to break up. We would not be half so comfortable in any boarding-house in the city."

"I don't know how that would be, but I am very much inclined to believe, that I should find it a great deal more pleasant. I should be relieved of all the care and responsibility of having the meals well cooked, and ready in time, and have no trouble with servants."

To this kind of argument Frank Lawton had in his mind some very decisive answers: but he could not utter them, without deeply wounding the young creature he had taken to his bosom, and vowed to love and cherish; and therefore he was silent. But in that silence was a fixed resolution not to yield to Julia's wishes in regard to breaking up housekeeping, should she go so far as to urge upon him a compliance with those wishes. He could not conceal from himself the fact, that a great part of the difficulty and trouble which his wife had experienced, arose from her indisposition to enter into, and faithfully perform her duties. This indisposition he had no doubt, time and reflection, added to the necessity of circumstances, would, in the end, correct.

Contrary to the hope of Mrs. Lawton, Rachel showed herself to be in earnest in her resolution to change her place. At the end of the month she gave up her situation, and Mrs. Lawton was left, with Sally, in care of the house. Now Sally had no more affection for culinary operations than her mistress, and therefore did not exhibit the most amiable temper in the world when she was told that she must turn cook until another one could be obtained.

"But I don't know anything about cooking, Mrs. Lawton," she said, with a clouded brow.

"Still you will have to try, Sally, for I can't do it. Rachel goes to-day; and until another cook can be obtained, you will have to take her place."

Sally went grumbling about her work in the kitchen after Rachel left, resolved to do nothing right, unless it should prove too much trouble to do it wrong; and further resolved, not to find a moment's time to make Mrs. Lawton's bed, or clear up her room. About eleven o'clock, her

mistress came into the kitchen, for the purpose of sending her up into her chamber, but found her still washing up the breakfast dishes.

"Why, Sally, is it possible you haven't got the breakfast things washed yet? How in the world do you expect to get the chamber and parlours cleaned up this morning?"

"I don't expect to get them cleaned up at all, Ma'am!" Sally replied, tartly. "If I've got the cooking to do, I'm sure I can't be chamber-maid at the same time."

"But how do you expect the up-stairs work is to be done, Sally?" Mrs. Lawton asked, in a tone of perplexity.

"I'm sure I don't know, Ma'am, unless you

do it."

"Me do it!" exclaimed Mrs. Lawton, in profound astonishment.

"It's your own work, Ma'am," Sally replied, with the utmost coolness.

Here, then, the young wife found herself in a narrow place, and how to get through it she knew not. To go to work and clean up the parlours, and then make up her bed and put her chamber in order, she could not, at first, think of doing. But time passed on, and Sally showed herself to be in earnest in the matter. Under the impulse of a fear that some one would call in and find her parlours in disorder, did Julia at last go to work and sweep and dust them pretty thoroughly. She then proceeded to her chamber, and restored everything to order there. This occupied her for an hour or two, at the end of which time she returned to the kitchen, and, from appearances there, perceived that if her husband got any dinner that day, she would have to cook it, for Sally was just placing the breakfast things upon the dresser, having, at last, concluded the process of washing them.

"Indeed, Sally, this is too bad!" she said, in an excited tone. "It is nearly one o'clock, and

nothing done towards getting dinner."

"I've hurried all I could," Sally replied, tossing her head. "I did not hire for cook any how!" was muttered in a lower tone, but distinct enough for Mrs. Lawton to hear.

Finding that nothing was to be gained by endeavouring to make Sally more active in her movements, and perceiving that she was in no very gentle temper, the young mistress made a virtue of necessity, and proceeded to the preparation of dinner, with the trifling assistance Sally felt disposed to give, herself in no very amiable mood. About the regulation of the cookingstove she knew little or nothing, and Sally pretended to be far more ignorant than her mistress. Between them, however, they at last managed to get the dinner cooked, but it was "after a fashion,' as they say.

The interview between the husband and wife at the dinner table, we will not sketch. Julia filled his ear with complaints, and declared that it was impossible to get along. But Frank was firm in his resolution not to give way. He soothed, and comforted, and tried to encourage his wife all he could, but would not entertain,

for a moment, her renewed propositions to break up housekeeping.

CHAPTER VI.

A NEW ONE.

"How do you do, Mrs. Campbell! I am really glad to see you this morning!" said Julia, to the lady she had named, who called in to see her on the third day of her trials with Sally as cook, a new one not having yet been obtained.

"I'm well, Mrs. Lawton, or Julia, as I must

still call you. And how are you?"

"O, I'm almost worried to death, Mrs. Campbell! I've had no cook for the last three days, and my chambermaid is worth nothing in the kitchen. It's the truth, that I've had to cook, or rather try to cook, for I know little or nothing of these matters, every dinner since Rachel went away."

"I know how to sympathize with you," Mrs. Campbell said; "for I've been served in the same way, many and many a time. The fact is, Julia, this housekeeping is a terrible business. I am so sick and tired, that I would almost be willing to live on bread and water, if I could be entirely free from it."

"It is indeed, Mrs. Campbell. I never dreamed that so many troubles and annoyances were

connected with it, or I should have been one of the last ones to have taken upon myself its perplexing cares."

"Well, Julia, if you regard a friend's advice, you will get out of them as quickly as possible."

"I have mentioned it to Mr. Lawton, but he won't listen to me."

"O no, of course not. The men never will hear to it. It's very comfortable for them, and that's all they care about. Give them a well-kept house to sit down in at night, and read or go to sleep, perhaps, and not a fig do they care how much trouble their wives have! The fact is, I'm getting out of all patience, and am determined to have a change before long."

"I really believe, as you say," Julia replied, "that men cannot truly appreciate the trials and cares to which women are subjected in their

families,"

"Truly appreciate them! No, indeed, that they cannot! They think we have it all easy enough; and what is worse, you may talk to them until you are blind, about it, and it makes not the least difference. I get so out of patience, sometimes, that I hardly know what to do with myself."

"But in regard to boarding, Mrs. Campbell, Mr. Lawton says that but few real comforts can be had in a boarding-house. That in too many instances the food not only comes on the table badly cooked, but is often inferior in quality, and limited in quantity. That you are constantly

liable to be thrown into disagreeable associations; that ——"

"Don't say any more, Julia! I have heard these things asserted over and over again, until they have lost all weight with me. Indeed, to tell the truth, I don't believe one word of it all. Isn't it sheer nonsense, now, to talk about the food being badly cooked in a regular boarding-house, where they have the best of servants, and everything arranged to have things done right. And as to its being inferior in quality, I believe as little of that as the other. I go to market, and I see what boarding-house people buy. It's their business to have everything in order for the sake of their boarders, for they know very well, if they don't, that they will lose them"

"As far as all that is concerned, Mrs. Campbell, I am sure I am willing to make the trial."

"So am I, Julia. And I will make it too, and that before long—see if I don't! Why, there is Mrs. Jamison, who has boarded for the last year. She says that it is infinitely preferable. And she had a fair trial of housekeeping, for she was at it ten years. It is all nonsense, she says, to talk about there being no comfort in boarding, for it is all comfort, in comparison with house-keeping. No looking after servants, no slaving in the kitchen, no care about anything but your own room. O, it must be delightful!"

"How foolish I was not to have gone to boarding at first! Mr. Lawton says that he thought it would have been better to have avoided the trou-

ble and expense incident to housekeeping for a year or so, but, that as I preferred being in a house of my own, he had yielded to my wishes."

"I should think, then, that he would still be

willing to break up."

"O no, not he! Now that we are in a house of our own, he thinks that it would be the greatest piece of folly in the world. And besides, he says, now is the best possible time for me to become familiar with its cares and duties."

"Indeed! Ah, Julia, I see that there is little hope for you. Your good man has the same notions that prevail among nine-tenths of husbands, that a wife is never so interesting as when she is engaged in attending to her household duties, as they call them. But, ain't we doomed to

slavery?"

"It really seems that we are, Mrs. Campbell," Julia replied, despondingly. "I am sure that I have felt like a slave ever since the care of this house devolved upon me. And, instead of things growing better, they grow worse and worse every day. Just to think, in the very first month after marriage, to be left without a cook, and be obliged to go into the kitchen, and toil like a servant! I declare, I get right sick sometimes! Don't you know of some one whom I could get?"

"Indeed I do not, Julia. And if I did, I wouldn't feel like recommending her to you, for they are all good for nothing. I've had about a hundred or so in my time, and never saw one

yet that was worth a copper."

"I don't know what I shall do, Mrs. Camp-



bell. If I had known that all were so worthless, I would have tried to persuade Rachel not to have left me. I think, now I have seen a little of Sally's cross-grained temper and indolence, that she was far above the ordinary run of servants. It is true, that she did not always do things just to my mind, but I shall have to put up with some things, I suppose."

"That you will. On this subject, we might

say with Shakspeare: Let us

—Rather bear those ills we have, Than fly to others that we know not of,

At least, such is my experience; for so sure as I let a servant go, I get one in her place ten times as bad."

"Ah me!" sighed the young wife, "we gain our wisdom by sad experience."

"Indeed we do, Julia! But like most of such

wisdom, it comes too late."

And thus Mrs. Campbell, one of the too numerous class of modern ill-furnished and reluctant housewives, chafed and worried the mind of Mrs. Lawton, instead of carefully soothing, and judiciously directing her into the right course of action. When, therefore, this kind friend left, she returned to her parlour, and seating herself near the window, remained for some time a prey to troubled and gloomy thoughts. But a consciousness that Sally was not to be depended upon for anything, roused her up, and she proceeded to the kitchen, and was soon busied in the preparations required for the ensuing meal. This re-

lieved her feelings considerably, but her countenance still wore a troubled air, when her husband came home to his dinner.

"Havn't you heard of a cook yet, Julia?" he

asked, as he observed her unhappy looks.

"Indeed'I have not, Frank. And I don't see any hope of getting one. I asked Mrs. Campbell this morning to look out for me, but she says it is no use, for they are all so worthless, that it is a nuisance to have them in the house."

"Still, it would have been only an act of kindness for her to have interested herself a little for you. And as to her sweeping declaration in the matter, I am afraid it is not quite so near the truth as it might be. I am really sorry that Rachel did not stay, for I think that she would have suited you very well, after you had both become more accustomed to each other."

"And I have been sorry a dozen times since she went away. I could get along tolerably well with her, but as to Sally, she is one of the most worthless creatures in the world. She pretends to do the cooking, but the whole of it falls upon my shoulders."

"I am really very sorry for you, Julia, and would do anything that I possibly could, to make

your task lighter."

"I wish you could do something, Frank; for really, as things are now, I do not see an hour's happiness during the day." This was said in a tone and manner that indicated plainly enough to the husband, that Julia thought it in his power to make her condition easier.



"I am sure I do not know how to relieve you," he replied. "What would you have me do, Julia?"

"I know but one way, and that is to break up, and go to boarding," was the prompt, decisive

answer.

"But we can't do that, Julia," replied Frank.

"And why not?" urged the young wife, the moisture gathering into her eyes as she looked her husband, with a steady, appealing look, in the face.

"Because, Julia, we could not, possibly, be so happy in a boarding-house. And now that we have everything comfortable around us, it

would be foolish indeed to break up."

"But didn't you say that you thought it would have been better for us if we had taken boarding at once, instead of going to housekeeping?"

"Certainly I did, Julia; but my reason for thinking so was, because I knew that it would be better for me to keep in my business the money required to furnish a house. Not that I did not prefer being in a house of my own; for I knew that, in the latter case, we should be far more comfortably situated."

"Well, I am sure, I am not comfortable by any means. Indeed, I am miserable." And

Julia gave way to a gush of tears.

Here was a severe and unexpected trial for Frank Lawton. In permitting his affections to become placed upon Julia, he had thought of little beyond her winning appearance and manners—her amiability and intelligence. Of her

qualifications for filling the responsible station of a wife, involving as it does many sacrifices, and a continual round of home-duties, he had thought nothing, for of these duties he was as ignorant as Julia herself proved to be. The natural conclusion of his mind was, that, under the care of so judicious and sensible a mother as Mrs. Manning appeared to be, Julia must be fully capable of filling the station she had agreed to assume. Sadly indeed had he been mistaken in this involuntary conclusion.

For a moment after the ebulition of his wife's feelings, just mentioned, Frank Lawton was so troubled and confused in mind, that he knew not what to think or say. Then drawing her to his side, and kissing her cheek tenderly, he tried by all the soothing and affectionate words he could utter, to quiet down her agitated feelings.

"But what shall I do? I am sure I cannot tell," she said, after the lapse of a minute or two, raising her head, and looking earnestly at Frank,

with her eyes still suffused with tears.

"Do not distress yourself, dear Julia! All will come right again. I will advertise at once for a cook, and, in the meantime, to make it as light as possible for you, I will not come home to any dinner, until one is obtained."

"But you can't go without your dinner, Frank!

That will never do."

"O no! I can obtain it readily enough at an eating-house."

"And then I won't see you from morning until night."

"But that will only be for a few days. And it will be much better than for you to be put to all the trouble you now are."

Gradually Frank soothed the agitated feelings of his wife, and it was finally agreed that he should, on the next morning, insert an advertisement in one of the newspapers for a cook.

The advertisement was accordingly inserted, and, by half-past eight o'clock in the morning, an Irish woman presented herself, and claimed

the place.

"Can you cook well?" asked Mrs. Lawton, eyeing her closely, and feeling by no means prepossessed in her favour, for she had a bold look, and was slovenly in her dress.

"O yes, mum, I can cook onything."

"What is your name?"

"Biddy O'Riley, mum."

"Where did you last live, Biddy?"

- "At one o' th' quality houses up in Bleeker-street."
 - "And what made you leave there, Biddy?"
- "O, because I didn't like the people, at all, at all."
- "Why didn't you like them, Biddy?" pursued Mrs. Lawton, who, feeling altogether disinclined to hire her, was yet unwilling to send her away without eliciting in her account of herself some good reason for doing so.

"Because, mum, they expected too much of

me, an' that was the rason."

"I am afraid, Biddy, that I should also expect too much of you."

"Och, no indade, mum! Y'r swate purty young face tells me I'd have nothing to fear from you at all, at all. Jist give me the sitiation, mum, and I'll run all the risks."

Mrs. Lawton paused a moment or two, unde-

termined how to act; at last she said,

"Well, Biddy, I suppose I will have to give you a trial. But I shall expect you to do your very best. My last cook did not please me, and she knew her business, I am inclined to think, much better than you know yours."

"Not a hate mum. I cooked for the quality folks afore I left the ould country, and I know all

about it."

"Do you know how to make puddings and

pastry?" inquired Mrs. Lawton.

"O yes, mum. We had a pastry-cook in the grand house where I lived, in the ould country, and I learned from her how to make a'most anything."

Preliminaries all settled, Biddy was installed in the kitchen, where she seemed to feel herself

perfectly at home.

Contrary to Mrs. Lawton's expectations, Biddy went about her work as if she understood, perfectly, what she was doing. The first dinner was well cooked, and neatly served up; and the dessert as good as if Mrs. Lawton's own hands had made it.

"Why, really, this seems as if Biddy, as you call her, knew what she was about," Frank said, as he glanced over the dinner-table, "notwith-

Digitized by Google

standing she is such an unpromising looking

subject."

"Yes, she does really seem to know her business, much as I doubted her," Julia replied. "But I am afraid that she is not clean. Her appearance is, certainly, by no means inviting."

"I shall be agreeably disappointed, if she prove to be all that is desired. Still, we must

hope for the best."

Day after day passed, and Biddy continued to perform her duties well and promptly. The consequence was, that the smile came back to the lip, and the light to the brow of Mrs. Lawton. Frank attended to the provision of everything. Biddy needed little or no direction in her department, beyond what he gave to her; and Sally kept her part of the house tidy enough. Mrs. Lawton had, in consequence, few cares and no trouble about her domestic concerns, and was, of course, happy enough in a house of her own. Mr. Lawton was also relieved, for Julia was happy, and said no more about breaking up housekeeping.

CHAPTER VII.

MORE TROUBLE.

But this calm, alas! was but the preluding hush of the coming tempest. For about two

weeks everything went on as smoothly as any one could desire. At the end of that time, Biddy asked for her wages, and took an afternoon to herself. About the time for putting on the teakettle, she returned, and proceeded, as usual, to prepare the supper. Frank came home at an early hour, and was sitting in the dining-room with Julia, when Biddy made her appearance for the purpose of setting the table.

"What can be the matter with Biddy?" he asked, as the cook left the room. "She acts

strangely."

"So it seemed to me; but I am sure I do not know. She took up two weeks' wages to-day, and has been out all the afternoon."

" Has she been out for any length of time, be-

fore?"

"No; she has kept herself closely in the house ever since she has been here."

At that moment Biddy re-entered with a waiter, which she placed upon the table, and then turned again towards the kitchen. As she passed out of the door, she struck against one side of it, bounded to the other, and then staggered off along the passage.

"She is drunk, as I live!" exclaimed Frank,

the moment she had passed out of hearing.

"Mercy on us!" Mrs. Lawton ejaculated, rising to her feet, her face instantly becoming pale.

"Really this is too bad!" Frank said, also rising, and pacing the room backward and forwards. "You had better call Sally to finish setting the table, and I will try and persuade Bid-



dy to go off to bed. A night's sleep will sober her; and no doubt to-morrow morning she will be heartily ashamed of herself."

"But ain't it dreadful, Frank, to have a drunken person about the house? I shall not have a

quiet moment while she is here."

"Don't be alarmed, Julia; but go and call Sally, while I see what I can do with the Irish woman."

While Mrs. Lawton went up to her chamber, Frank proceeded to the kitchen. There he found Biddy endeavouring to fill the tea-pot. But she had become, by this time, so much under the influence of the liquor she had taken, that instead of pouring the hot water into the tea-pot, she was pouring it all over the hearth.

"Biddy," he said, kindly, "I don't think you are well this evening. Sally will finish getting the supper, and you had better go up stairs to

your bed."

Now Biddy, although pretty far gone, had a distinct idea of her situation, and dreaded its being perceived. So soon, therefore, as Mr. Lawton alluded to her not being well, she raised herself up, and, while her face crimsoned with drunken indignation, said,

"I'm jist as well, sir, as iver I wus—and I don't want no lazy chambermaid to git the tay for

me."

"Yes, but see, Biddy, how you have poured the boiling water over the hearth."

"And what if I have, thin? It's only a few draps. And sure a body may do that, ony day."

"Then, Biddy, if I must speak out plainly," Mr. Lawton said, for he began to feel worried, "you have been drinking this afternoon."

"Niver a hate, sir."

"Yes, but Biddy, I know better. And now let me tell you plainly, that unless you go right off to bed, and quietly too, I won't have you in the house a day longer. But if you will go up stairs, without any disturbance, and will promise not to do so again, we will look over this first offence."

Drunk as Biddy O'Riley was, she had yet sense enough left to understand perfectly the meaning of what Mr. Lawton said, and it cooled her down in a moment.

"Bless your heart!" she began; "I only took a little drap of the erater comfort. But, indade, indade, I'll niver touch another bit while I'm in your house; now that you are so good and kind to me—bless your purty young face!"

"But let all that pass, Biddy. And so go right off to bed, if you expect to be pardoned for

this offence."

Unexpectedly to himself, Mr. Lawton got Biddy up to her chamber without trouble, and then returned to the dining-room to soothe Julia's mind.

"I can't have her in the house another day, Frank, indeed I cannot! A drunken woman of all things in the world, I dread."

"But I don't think Biddy is vicious, even while under the influence of liquor. I got her to go off to bed with very little trouble. To-morrow you

can take her while she is sober, and tell her plainly, that for the next offence there will be no

forgiveness."

"Indeed, indeed, Frank, I cannot keep her about me! I shouldn't have any peace of my life. I never could tell the moment when she would get drunk. It might be some day when we were alone together, and I should be frightened almost to death."

"Really, I am grieved that this has happened," Lawton said. "I felt in hopes that Biddy, as unpromising as her appearance was, would turn out to be a valuable servant."

"And I had begun to hope so too; but it is all over now."

On the next morning, Biddy was up at her usual early hour, and prepared breakfast in her best style. She had lost her last place, which was a good one, in consequence of drunkenness, an infirmity under which she had occasionally suffered for many years; and now, under the fear that she would lose her present situation, did she proceed to do everything in the best possible manner.

"Biddy has cooked us a very nice breakfast, I see," Mr. Lawton remarked, as he and Julia

drew up to the table.

"O, I am so sorry this has happened," his wife said; "for she would suit me so well. I rarely have to tell her how to do anything, and you know that she always has her meals cooked in time."

"I really think, Julia, that you had better try her again."

"I'm afraid; indeed I am, Frank!"

"But, perhaps, if you were to talk the matter over calmly with her, and let her know distinctly, that you will not pass by the second offence, she will be more careful in future."

"O, I can't say a word to her about it."

"Then, Julia, if you will consent to give her another trial, I will state the case to her in terms that she will not misunderstand."

Julia finally consented, and so Biddy's first offence was passed over. Everything went on smoothly enough again for nearly a month, when Biddy could hold out no longer. The spirit was

willing, but the flesh was weak.

Poor Mrs. Lawton had begun to feel some degree of confidence in her cook, who, barring a little slovenliness about her kitchen, was good-tempered and obliging, when this second lapse almost broke her down again. This time, Biddy was not so easily managed as before; but, finally, Mr. Lawton, who was home upon this occasion also, got her off to bed.

After some persuasion, and a good deal of begging and promising on the part of Biddy, Mrs. Lawton was induced to give her another trial, although she had positively promised a discharge from her service for the second offence. And so sinning and repenting, Biddy remained in her place for a whole year, when she got so bad that it was absolutely necessary to send her off.

A year's experience had helped Mrs. Lawton

a good deal in an approximation towards a correct idea of her true position and relations. On many and many occasions during that time, had she become discouraged, and urged upon her husband the propriety of giving up their house. But on this point, he could not be moved—either by persuasions or tears. She could not help thinking him a little selfish in the matter, and, perhaps, he was. But his consideration extended to her, for he knew much better than she did the kind of satisfaction a boarding-house afforded in comparison with the delights of a real home. And, moreover, he was sensible enough to think that Julia ought rather to enter into and perform her domestic duties, than shun them. In this he found it necessary to conceal, in a great degree, his real sentiments, for it soon became apparent that Julia could not appreciate them, and he did not, of course, wish her to think him unregardful of her comfort.

CHAPTER VIII.

A TRUE FRIEND.

A YEAR has passed away, and, as indicated in our last chapter, some changes have occurred during that year. Let us look in upon our young friends, who still retain their well-established house. It is evening, and the soft light of a shaded lamp is diffused through a neatly-arranged sitting-room, where Frank and his young wife are alone, feeling as happy, or may be, happier, than they had been since young love trembled in their hearts with its first sweet emotion.

Alone, did we say? No, not all alone: for upon the bosom of Julia lay a perfect miniature of herself—a living, moving, breathing one not yet conscious of its own innocent existence.

"Dear, sweet babe!" murmured the young mother, under the impulse of the newly awakened maternal affection, pressing the infant to her breast.

"I thought we were as happy before as we could be," the husband said; "but how much this precious gift has increased it!"

"And you love me more than ever now; don't

vou, dear Frank?"

"A thousand times more, it seems, dear Julia!" and he pressed his lips first to those of his wife, and then to the cheek, lips, and forehead of the innocent babe that lay in happy unconsciousness upon her bosom.

" How strange it seems that some mothers can coldly turn their babes over to the care of hired nurses!" Julia remarked, after a silence of some moments. "For my part, I am never so happy as when my sweet little one is sleeping where she now lies. Hark! there's the bell. I wonder who it can be?"

In a few minutes Sally came in and announced that Mrs. Emerson was in the parlour.

"Ask her to walk back into the sitting-room,

Sally," Mrs. Lawton said.

"This is an unexpected pleasure," she added, turning to her husband, as Sally withdrew. "I cannot help liking Mrs. Emerson."

"Nor I, Julia. I think her one of the best of

women."

The entrance of Mrs. Emerson checked any further remark.

"We are very glad to see you, Mrs. Emerson," said Mr. Lawton, as she came in, offering

his hand, and conducting her to a chair.

"And I felt as if I would like to spend an evening with you, my young friends, and so, my nephew having come in for a few minutes, I got him to accompany me thus far, and he is to call for me again in the course of an hour or so. And so you've got your dear little babe there, Julia," she added, in a changed tone, drawing her chair up familiarly to the side of Mrs. Lawton, and taking in her's the small white arm of the infant.

"O yes, Mrs. Emerson; I am never so happy as when I have her in my arms. Dear little thing! How strong a hold she has already taken on our affections. I had no idea how deep and tender was the love which a mother bore to her child."

"It is a deep, a tender, and pure love, Julia," Mrs. Emerson said, "when it is suffered to act freely. But how many young mothers there are, whose selfish love of ease and idle visitings prompt them to delegate to others the dear offi-

ses of affection, thus permitting the fountain of maternal love to run dry, or partially fail, in their bosoms."

"How strange!" Mr. Lawton said, musingly.
"Strange indeed!" continued Mrs. Emerson.
"How can a wife and mother look out from her own fireside for that which is to satisfy her yearnings after happiness? At home, and in home-duties, it is alone to be found; and whenever it is sought elsewhere, it is sought in vain."

"A truer sentiment was never uttered," Mr.

Lawton responded, in an earnest tone.

"How can a mother find pleasure anywhere but with her children?" Julia said, drawing closer the arm that held her babe to her bosom.

"She may find pleasure elsewhere, Mrs. Lawton," her friend remarked; "but never while neglecting the duties of home. I would not be understood to interdict in any way the pleasures of the social circle; but let them always be rational, and never at the expense of real duties. It is as great an error to suppose that within our own home is the limit of obligation, as to neglect our domestic duties for the pleasures which society offers. Whenever we can find an hour that may be spared without the neglect of some duty, we should spend that hour in society, with the double motive of imparting as well as receiving some good impulses. In this way we may ever be the medium of some good to others, either in our families, or in society at large. And surely, such a consciousness of ever being in the effort

to do good, must bring a reward far above what any idle, self-indulgence, or vain show can give."

"You seem to have thought much upon these subjects, Mrs. Emerson," Mr. Lawton said, as

their visiter paused.

"I believe I have," she replied, with a smile; "and the reason is, I suppose, to be found in the fact, that when I started in life, I had many erroneous views, which caused me much pain before I discovered them, and no little effort to correct. Experience is said, you know, to be the best teacher, and therefore it is that I have learned my lesson well. But I will not weary you with my dull reflections on life. And so to change the subject, let me inquire, Julia, if you find your cares in any degree lightened by the aid which a year's experience has given you?"

"They are lightened, I think, some little," Mrs. Lawton replied. "But still, I find I have my hands full. And just now I am in some dif-

ficulty."

"I am sorry to hear that. What is it?"

"My cook has become so much addicted to drunkenness, that we have been obliged to send her away. While sober, she performed her work well. Indeed, except that one great fault, I had no complaint to make against her."

"That is bad enough. But, I think I know of an excellent cook who is just now out of a place. And I will see about her for you, to-

morrow, early."

"It would be very kind, indeed, of you to do so, Mrs. Emerson, for just now, with a young babe to attend to, I cannot give much attention to household affairs."

"I shall do it with pleasure, Julia."

"How different from our friend Mrs. Campbell!" Frank Lawton could not help saying to himself. Then speaking aloud, he remarked—

"I am glad to find, Mrs. Emerson, that you are more inclined to help and encourage, than to dispirit by idle complaints, as some of Julia's acquaintances are."

"And I hope I ever shall be, Mr. Lawton. If we all complained less, and tried to encourage and help each other more, we should find all

our duties much more easily performed."

"But don't you think, Mrs. Emerson," Julia said, "that, with just ourselves, and our babe, we should find it much easier and pleasanter in a boarding-house. Then, we would be done with all this trouble about servants."

"Indeed, Julia, I do not think any such thing. For a little while it might seem better. But a boarding-house is a poor substitute for a home. As far as I am concerned, I would rather keep house in two rooms, than live in the best boarding establishment in the city."

"Well, I don't know, Mrs. Emerson, but it does seem to me, that I would be much happier

than I am now."

"If you are not happy, Julia, with your husband and child, in so pleasant a home as this, be sure that the change to a boarding-house will do but little towards giving you a contented mind.

7*

I am afraid, my dear child, that you have much to learn yet."

"No doubt I have. But still, I cannot get the idea out of my mind, that there is far more enjoyment, for a woman at least, in a boardinghouse, than there is for her while pressed down with ever-recurring and perplexing domestic duties"

"But surely, Julia, you consider your husband's comfort, as well as your own."

"Certainly I do, Mrs. Emerson. But then, it seems to me nothing more than fair, that he should consider mine a little also," Julia replied, half laughing, half in earnest.

The conversation now took a different turn, and continued with pleasure and profit to all, until Mrs. Emerson's nephew called for her, when she took her leave of Mr. and Mrs. Lawton, and went away.

CHAPTER IX.

ANOTHER POWERFUL DEMONSTRATION.

It is so easy, with a few strokes of the pen, to carry the reader through as many years, that we cannot resist the impulse to do so; especially as we have lingered long enough in the description of domestic incidents, such as recur

again and again, year after year, in the family of a young married couple like Mr. and Mrs. Lawton. We shall, therefore, advance the history of those we have introduced, at least ten years, with only a remark or two.

Mrs. Lawton, who had been blessed during the period with two more children, both boys, had not ceased, at different periods, to press upon her husband the expediency of breaking up, and enjoying the comforts of a boarding-house. His very resoluteness in opposing this desire on the part of his wife, only tended to make it increase in strength, and take deeper root in her mind. To her, the precincts of a boarding-house seemed forbidden ground, and because forbidden, if for no other reason, she had come to have an almost unconquerable desire to renounce the certain comforts of her own pleasant establishment, for the doubtful ones that such a change of condition promised. During all that period, the influence of Mrs. Campbell, who had by dint of persevering application, finally prevailed upon her husband to break up, was operating steadily and powerfully-counteracting, in a good degree, the more judicious and really excellent counsel of Mrs. Emerson, added to that of her own mother, who would never hear a word in favour of giving up her comfortable house.

The care of three children added, of course, greatly to Mrs. Lawton's duties, and made any irregularity in the arrangements of her family doubly annoying. Their ages were, Florence, the eldest, eleven years, James, nine, and Henry,

an infant, about a year old. From the first, she had been devoted to them, for her maternal feelings were deep and lasting. As to servants, she still had many and grievous troubles.

In regard to Mr. Lawton, he had felt, like every one else, the disastrous effects arising from a universal depression of trade that pervaded the whole community in 18-. A prudent man in his business, he had been able to bear up under the accumulating difficulties of the times, but he was merely holding his own, not advancing. It happened, one evening, about this time, that as Mr. Lawton and his wife sat after tea, each busy with thoughts that neither felt disposed to clothe in words. Mr. and Mrs. Campbell dropped in, to pass a social hour. Mr. Campbell was a man of general information, and of course he and Mr. Lawton were soon engaged in discussing some current topic of interest: while, with the ladies, the too common theme of troublesome servants was introduced and canvassed.

"There is where I am a little ahead of you, Mrs. Lawton," said her visiter. "I am my own servant in my own chamber, and there ends the matter. After I have made my bed in the morning, I can sit down pleasantly enough, and chat with my husband, until the breakfast bell rings. And after breakfast I can do what I please until dinner time; and the same until supper. No seeing after servants, and studying about what I shall have for dinner, and how it shall be cooked.

I wouldn't keep house again for a pretty premium."

"And sick and tired enough of it I am, Mrs. Campbell. But Mr. Lawton won't hear to our breaking up. Though, I suspect, if he had all the trouble of it, as I have, he would be glad

enough to escape."

"I never knew what it was to enjoy life." resumed Mrs. Campbell, "until we sold off our things and went to boarding. I was always in hot water about something. Don't you find your servants very wasteful? I never had one who did not waste and break more than her

wages came to."

"Why, the fact is," responded Mrs. Lawton. "there is scarcely a day that a cup, a plate, or a tumbler is not broken. There! Didn't you hear that crash in the kitchen? Something else has gone. Now, if I were to go out there and ask the cook what she had broken, and how she came to do it, she would have the sulks all day to-morrow, which would cost me more unpleasant feelings than the plate or dish is worth."

"Why don't you break up and go to boarding, Mrs. Lawton? You would be a thousand times

better contented."

"The fact is, Mrs. Campbell, I shall have to worry my husband into it. I think I can approach him on the score of economy. Times are hard enough now, the men all say; and if I can convince him that several hundred dollars can be saved by breaking up, he will be in a fair way to be conquered."

"You will never regret it, Mrs. Lawton. It is living a dog's life to keep house."

"A dog's life, Mrs. Campbell? Aye, you are

right there!"

"You can save five or six hundred dollars a year by boarding; and that is a handsome sum

now-a-days."

"Do you hear that, Mr. Lawton?" cried his wife, in an exulting tone. "Mrs. Campbell says that we can save at least five or six hundred dollars by boarding."

"And be six hundred dollars worse off in re-

gard to comfort than we now are."

"There you are mistaken, Mr. Lawton," said Mrs. Campbell, coming up to the attack in aid of her friend. "We have tried house-keeping, and we have tried boarding; and the latter, besides being cheaper, is in every way more pleasant."

"It may be for you, Mrs. Campbell, but with our three children, and a servant to take care of them, we would find boarding a very unpleasant change from a comfortable house, in which we

can do as we please."

"But I am sure we do just as we please," broke in Mrs. Campbell. "We come when we please, and we go when we please. And in boarding-houses, every one is at home; for while he pays for it, the house he lives in is his home."

"You may think it tolerable with no children," replied Mr. Lawton; "but, with three and a nurse, let me tell you, that you would find it

approaching too near the intolerable. While a single man, I had boarding to my heart's content; and I find house-keeping, with all its little

troubles, far preferable."

"You may call them little troubles, Mr. Lawton," spoke up his wife, with some spirit-" but if you had all the battles to fight with the servants, and the care of the whole house upon your shoulders, you would see these little troubles through the other end of the telescope. But what do you say, Mr. Campbell? Let us have your opinion upon the matter; I am sure that

you prefer boarding to house-keeping?"

"Why, as to that," replied Mr. Campbell, in a very deliberate manner, seeming all the while to be casting about in his mind for words to convey his thoughts, that should not, at the same time that they expressed his own, compromise his wife's opinions too much-"we are comfortably enough off. Our landlady is a fine woman, and quite attentive to the wants of her boarders. It costs us less to board, as there are but two of us, than it did to keep house; but not such a great deal less. If it was not that Mrs. Campbell likes it so much better, I should prefer, I think, to be in a house of my own. But it is so much easier for her, that it would be wrong in me, perhaps, to prefer my own comfort to hers. We had such a trying time with servants, that I am reluctant to subject her again to the same perplexities and inconveniences."

"But if your family was as large as ours,"

said Mr. Lawton, bringing him at once to the

point, "would you prefer boarding?"

"As you corner me, then, so closely, I must beg, respectfully, to differ with the ladies, and say, that I should think house-keeping, with a family of children, in every way preferable to boarding."

"Well, I'm for boarding, I can tell you!" broke in Mrs. Lawton, half laughing, half serious, "and whenever Mr. Lawton says the word, I

will be ready at a week's notice."

"I don't intend being ready for a long time to come. Never. I think."

"We shall see!" was the laughing reply of

Mrs. Lawton.

The gentlemen, after a brief pause, resumed their conversation, and the ladies put their heads together again, and went on in their comparison of the evils and benefits of house-keeping and boarding.

CHAPTER X.

BREAKING UP.

STRANGE things will happen sometimes, and one among the strangest we have to record is that which took place in the mind of Frank Lawton. From presenting a steady and persevering opposition to all arguments in favour of boarding for more than ten years, he came around, and finally consented to break up. True, it came to pass after six weeks of incessant clouds and storm, growing out of one of those periodical changes of servants with which so many families are annoyed."

"You will have an auction, of course," said Mrs. Lawton, after the main point was gained.

"I shall have no such thing," was the decided answer of her husband, who, now that he had yielded so much, felt himself privileged to be a little crusty.

"Why, what in the world will you do with all of our parlour and kitchen furniture, and a hundred other things that we shall have no more

use for?"

"Store them, of course."

"Why, we shall have no more use for them, you know, and storage will only be a useless expense. I really think you had better have an auction, which will be a regular clearing out at once. I am sure I don't want the trouble of packing up every thing."

"I'll take all the trouble," was the brief reply.

"But what in the world do you want to store them for, Frank? We shall have no more need for them."

"It's a mere notion of mine, Julia," was the evasive answer.

Having gained the most important point, Julia thought it hardly worth while to contend for this, and so it was given up.

The next thing was to find a suitable boarding-

house. This, which was considered quite an easy matter, viewed in the distance, was found rather difficult when the actual experiment was tried. The first application was at one of the hotels, as it was voted that in a tavern they would be more alone than in a boarding-house. The price asked, however, banished all ideas of a hotel from their minds. For Mr. and Mrs. Lawton, their three children, and a servant, with a parlour and two chambers, the terms were fifty dollars a week. Application was next made at a fashionable boarding-house. The landladv. after some hesitation at the idea of taking a whole family into her house, finally agreed to accommodate them with a private parlour and two chambers, at thirty-five dollars a week. This was nearly two thousand dollars a-vear, far more than it cost them to keep house, pay their servants' wages, and buy all their clothing.

After this, Mr. Lawton relinquished the search, but his wife was by no means discouraged. She knew very well, she said, that genteel boarding could be obtained at a far less price. The lady at whose house Mrs. Campbell boarded, was applied to, but she said she could take no more, as all of her rooms were full. Though the fact was, that Mrs. Campbell had quietly hinted to her, that she didn't believe that Mrs. Lawton's whole family would add anything to the comfort of her boarders, as her friend had not the best government in the world over her children.

As a last resort, Mrs. Lawton caused an advertisement to be inserted in one of the daily

newspapers. Among the several applications made, in answer to this advertisement, was one from a widow lady, with two daughters, and one son, a mere lad. She said, that if they were pleased with her terms, she would at once rent a large house then vacant, and accommodate them. Her charge would be fifteen dollars aweek; eight for Mr. and Mrs. Lawton, six for the two oldest children, and one for the infant. For the servant, she said that she would not charge anything, as she could always do enough "odd jobs" to pay for all she would eat.

This was the very thing. And now came the severe trial to Mr. Lawton—the actual breaking up—the consummation so long dreaded and struggled against with manly determination. But he tried to be as earnest and cheerful in the matter as possible, and did actually gain so far over his reluctance as to feel reconciled in the idea that he should, by the change, accomplish a

great saving.

Mrs. Baillie, the lady who proposed to set up a boarding-house, was a widow in reduced circumstances. Her husband had, while living, been engaged in an extensive wholesale trade with the south and west; but, like thousands of others, had suddenly found himself with a large amount of unproductive debts upon his books, and a host of eager creditors pressing, with the accumulated force of a general pressure, for their dues. And like thousands of others who yielded to the disastrous gales of 18—, he gave way—became a bankrupt. Being an honest man, he re-

tained nothing for his family, who, until that time, had known no mere external want unsatisfied.

The fiery ordeal through which Mr. Baillie had to pass, an ordeal that none but he who has himself gone through it can appreciate, completely broke down his spirits. Had there been any hope of his rising, there would have been something to inspirit him; but there was none. Every section of the country was suffering under a wide-spread commercial disorder. Though a man of extensive business acquaintance, business habits, and known integrity, he could make no new connection in trade, nor even obtain the more quiet and less responsible station of clerk; for there was no inducement for men of capital to enter into business, and those already inextricably involved in its details, had more help than they wanted. Indeed, thousands of clerks were thrown out of employment. And to all this was added the unfeeling persecutions of one or two creditors, who persisted in alleging the existence All these suddenly accumulated distresses completely broke down the man. saw no hope-star glimmering with a feeble ray of promise through the dark clouds that overshadow-A man of less vigour of mind than he, could have bent low, and still been unbroken. But, like the strong tree which resists the war of elements that levels the reed to the earth, he broke down when the storm increased to a tempest. In a word, Mr. Baillie's distress of mind brought on a sickness of which he died.

And now, for the sorrow-stricken widow and

her two daughters, came trials and sufferings, to bear which they found themselves but poorly able.

"We cannot remain here, my children," the mother said to her two daughters, the eldest twenty, and the other just entering her seventeenth year, glancing as she spoke at the comfortable, even elegantly arranged room in which they were sitting. It was three months from the day her husband had been buried out of her sight; and, as she spoke, the tears came into her eves.

"We are ready, dear mother!" Anna, the eldest, replied, "to go where you think best, and to do what you think best."

"I know that, my children. But where shall we go, and what shall we do? These are questions that I ask myself over and over again, but can find no answer."

"But why can't we stay here, Ma?" asked Josephine, the younger of the two daughters. "I am sure it would be much pleasanter to live here than to go to any other place that I know of."

"Because, my dear child, we cannot afford to remain here. All that we have left to us is just what you see around you. When your father's business was broken up, everything was taken out of his hands, and our furniture is all that has been spared. We cannot live on this. It is, therefore, necessary for us to reduce, in some way, our expenses to the lowest possible sum."

"But even then, Ma, how shall we live?"

inquired Josephine, whose mind fully comprehended her mother's statement.

"Indeed, that is more than I can tell. But can you not help me to devise some way, my children. Your little brother, you know, must be sent to school, and there is no one left now to do it but his mother and sisters."

A silence of some minutes ensued, during which the thoughts of each were busy. At length, with a deep sigh, Anna looked up and said.

"One thing can at least be done, mother."

"And what is that, my child?"

"We cannot of course live here, burdened with a rent of seven hundred dollars."

"That is certain, Anna."

"And we have a great deal more furniture than we want in a smaller house."

"Yes."

"Now, we can sell a portion of this, and move where the rent will be much less. What we get by selling the furniture, will support us until we have time to look about for something to do."

"That is all very good, Anna. It is exactly what I have myself thought. Suppose then, we

go out at once and look for a house."

This proposition was agreed to, and on that very day Mrs. Baillie and Anna went out in search of a house. But they came home tired and dispirited, having looked in vain for one that seemed just what they wanted. On the next day they tried it again; and met with the upstairs portion of a house to rent, at two hundred

dollars. It was not in a very pleasant part of the city, and the rooms, which were three in the second story, with a garret room, and the use of the kitchen in the basement, were not in very good repair.

"Well, mother, what do you think about the house we saw in Grand-street?" asked Anna,

after their return.

"I do not like it, Anna. But can we do better?"

"I am afraid not. The next question is, how shall we pay even two hundred dollars?"

"We will have to sell a good deal of our furniture, you know, and that will keep us for a while."

"But when that is gone, what shall we do?"

asked Anna, in a concerned tone.

- "Indeed, my child, I cannot tell. For I have no idea at all of what we can do to earn money. It is true, that we can take in sewing, if we can get it. But it will be impossible for us to support ourselves with the needle, and pay a rent of two hundred dollars."
- "How sorry I am that I do not know some trade!" Anna remarked, thoughtfully.

"And suppose that you did, what could you

do then?" asked Josephine.

"Why, if I was a good dress-maker or a milliner, how easy it would be for us to set up the business with what we would get for our extra furniture."

"But you are surely not in earnest, Anna!" exclaimed Josephine, in surprise.



- "Certainly I am, sister. Why did you think I was not in earnest?"
 - "You set up a milliner's shop, Anna!"
 - "And why not, Josephine?"
- "That would be too low, indeed! O, I did not think it had come to that!"
- "It would be a happy resource in our present difficulties," Anna replied, whose mind, in its deep and earnest sympathy with her mother, had lost sight of the mere conventional prejudices which she had herself before indulged. "Surely, Josephine, there is no moral wrong, and, therefore, no disgrace, in making bonnets or dresses, more than in doing any other kind of sewing. What we now want, is an honourable means of supporting ourselves, and educating our little brother. And if both you and I understood one of the two trades I have named, we would have, I feel sure, a certain means of providing comfortably for our mother and brother. For we could set it up, in handsome style, with the money we would obtain in selling our furniture."
- "But really, Anna, I cannot bear the thought of going behind the counter, and becoming a mere milliner."
- "I must own, sister, that I feel as you do; but I know that it is founded in prejudice, and a false estimate of things. Surely, the end we have in view is a motive strong enough to obliterate any such false idea, with its unpleasant feeling. You remember what Pope says; and now that so great a change has suddenly come

over us, we cannot think of the sentiment too often:—

'Honour and shame, from no condition rise; Act well your part; there all the honour lies.'"

"You are no doubt right, sister; but still, I

cannot help feeling as I do."

"I only wish, Josephine, that both of us could feel on that subject to some purpose. But, alas! we cannot. Neither you nor I know anything at all about mantua-making or millinery operations. Nor are we so perfect in our music or French as to be able to offer ourselves as teachers of either branch. And so we come back to the yet unanswered question—what shall we do?"

"What would you think, Anna, of our renting that large house we saw in Broome-street, and opening a boarding-house? A great many ladies who have become reduced in circumstances.

support themselves in that way."

"They ask a thousand dollars for the house,

do they not?"

"Yes. But it is a large old-fashioned house, and would accommodate a good many boarders. By the sale of a few costly articles, we would be enabled to furnish a number of rooms, besides having as much furniture as we wanted."

"I am sure I hardly know what to say, mother," Anna replied. "It is certainly worth thinking about. If we had a few boarders to begin with, I should almost feel like recommending a trial at least."

Thus things remained until the next morning,

when Anna, in looking over the newspaper, exclaimed, "Just listen to this mother,—

"'WANTED.—Genteel boarding for a small family, in a central part of the city. Address A. B. with real name."

"That may be the very thing for us," Mrs. Baillie said, while her countenance brightened up; for she had thought so much about the subject since it had been introduced on the day before, that she had come to feel that the only chance for them was to open a boarding-house.

A note was at once written and sent to the printing-office, and then they waited in anxiety and suspense all through the day, and there came no answer. Poor Mrs. Baillie felt gloomy enough as night came slowly on, and yet there had been no response to their application. But about ten o'clock on the next morning she had a visit from Mr. Lawton and his wife, at which interview all the preliminaries were settled, and it was agreed that Mrs. Baillie should rent the house at once, on the certainty of receiving fifteen dollars a-week. This she accordingly proceeded to do, and, in the course of a week, was ready to receive her boarders.

To Mr. Lawton and his family were assigned a neat parlour and two adjoining chambers, which were furnished by themselves, of course. And now the two experiments of boarding and taking boarders commenced in good earnest.

CHAPTER XI.

EXPERIMENTS IN BOARDING AND TAKING BOARDERS.

"I AM sure you will agree with me, now, that boarding is, in every way, preferrable to housekeeping," Mrs. Lawton said to her husband, one day, after dinner, at the expiration of a month from the beginning of their experiment.

"I can't say but that it is pleasant enough, so far, Julia; but I have no idea that it will last. And even as it is, this is far from feeling like home to me. And I am sure the children are

not so cheerful as they were."

"O, there you are mistaken. They enjoy themselves as much as ever they did. I see more of them than you do, and I am sure that there is not a particle of difference."

"Well, perhaps not. It may only be an idea

of mine—a reflection of my own feelings."

"But why do you think that it will not last long?" inquired Mrs. Lawtop. "I cannot un-

derstand what you mean."

"I mean, then, Julia, that Mrs. Baillie will not be able to sustain herself. Poor woman! I pity her, for she is struggling, I see, with difficulties that are, I fear, insurmountable. Her rent alone is one thousand dollars a-year, or twenty dollars a-week, and all she yet receives from boarders is but fifteen."

"O but, Frank, you know that she will obtain

more boarders. She doesn't, of course, expect to get along on what we pay her."

"Of course not. But she hasn't got her other

boarders yet."

"Certainly not. But then you must give the woman time. The world was not made in a

day."

"All very just and sensible, Julia. And we will suppose that she has six or eight more boarders, which is as many as she can expect for the first six months. Six young men, at four dollars each, will make twenty-four dollars, which, including what she receives from us, will make thirty-nine, say forty dollars a-week. Her rent is twenty. And there is but twenty dollars left to buy the marketing and groceries for about sixteen persons, including, of course, her own family and servants, to say nothing of fuel, servants' wages, their own clothes, &c. &c. &c."

"Rather a discouraging picture, I must con-

fess." Mrs. Lawton said.

"Indeed it is. And I pity her from my heart. The more I see of both herself and daughters, the more I feel interested in them. To tell you the truth, Julia, since I have considered the matter, I begin to feel as if we had acted wrong in encouraging them to take this house."

"O no, I wouldn't think that. They will get

more boarders."

"I hope so, Julia. But, even then, I have my doubts of their success."

As Mrs. Lawton had intimated, they certainly were situated very pleasantly, considering that

they were in a boarding-house. Mrs. Baillie and her daughters did everything that their kind hearts and a natural desire to please, prompted them to do, to make them comfortable. But as day after day passed, and there was no accession to their number of boarders, they began to feel discouraged. Their advertisement, which was ordered to be kept in for a month, still continued to appear, and at last attracted the eye of two or three young men who wanted to obtain boarding, and at the end of the third week there were two additions to the family, which increased their income eight dollars. These soon induced first one and then two others to come also. And now the widow and her daughters began to feel as if there was some hope of success. But with this increase of family, came increased labour for all. Every night, both the mother and her daughters retired late, overwearied with the toil and care of the day, and every morning rose early, to renew those toils and cares. And what was worse, even with their increased income, it did not long escape the notice of Mrs. Baillie, that but little was left after the weekly bills for marketing and groceries were paid.

"I don't see how we are going to pay our rent, Anna," she said, one day, to her oldest daughter,-" We do not seem to make anything on our boarders. Seven weeks of our first quarter have passed, and yet we have not ten dollars laid by, and the rent will amount to two hundred and fifty."

This remark caused Anna's countenance to

fall, and she paused for some moments before she replied. At last, with a long-drawn sigh, she said—

"Indeed, mother, I don't know what we shall do, unless there is some increase in our number of boarders. But even as it is, we are all nearly broken down with work, and how we are to get along with more, I can hardly tell. It won't do to hire even one more servant, for we cannot afford it."

"The prospect seems gloomy enough, Anna. But now that we have gone thus far, there is no looking back. We must try and economize all we can, and hope for the best. Something may yet turn up in our favour."

But what that something was, she had not even a remote idea. Time passed rapidly onwards, and Mrs. Baillie's quarter-day came long before she was prepared for it.

"Your bill, Ma'am, for the quarter's rent," said the agent of the landlord, who had been admitted by the servant, about ten o'clock on the morning of the day the rent became due.

Poor Mrs. Baillie felt as if she would sink to the floor, at this sudden demand, for she had not twenty dollars in the house.

"I am sorry, sir, that I am not able to-day—have been disappointed in getting boarders—will attend to it very soon," she stammered out in broken sentences, while her tones and expression of countenance evinced her confusion and distress of mind.

"But your rent is due to-day, Ma'am," the agent said, in a positive, and somewhat stern voice.

"I know it is, sir. And I tried my best to have the money ready for you. But have not been able."

"And when do you expect to be able, pray?" inquired the collector, who seemed to feel himself privileged to wound and insult even a woman, where he found her so far beneath human consideration as to have no money, when called upon to meet a just demand.

"Very soon, I hope, sir," meekly replied the distressed widow, whose previous condition and habits unfitted her as much for contending with

the world in this form, as in any other.

"But I should like to know how soon, Ma'am?"

"Indeed, sir, I cannot tell. But it shall be settled at the earliest possible day. It is not a wilful omission on my part, sir—but arises, altogether, from inability."

Such a plea she did not, of course, think would have the effect to make her case much worse in the eyes of the agent than before. She knew too little of the world for that.

"Then why did you rent so large a house, if you had no means of paying? It is little better than ——"

Here he checked himself, and after a moment added—

"This bill must be settled very soon, Ma'am, or we cannot wait;" and so saying, he with-drew.

The moment he closed the door after him,

poor Mrs. Baillie burst into tears; and sinking into a chair, covered her face with her hands, and wept and sobbed as if her very heart were breaking. For weeks she had dreaded this interview, but it was none the less painful, and even distressing, for having been looked for with a nervous, indefinable sensation of fear.

Anna had listened, in the adjoining room, with a throbbing heart, and feelings of indignation to what had passed between the agent and her mother. She came instantly forward, and taking her mother's hand, said, with affec-

tionate earnestness-

"Do not give way so, dear mother! It was cruel in the man to talk as he did; but try and not mind it."

"I would not mind it so much, Anna," her mother replied, raising her head, while the tears fell fast over her pale, and sorrow-stricken face, "if I could pay him his rent."

"Well, it can be paid, mother. I have thought

of a way."

"How, my child?"

"Why, by selling my piano. It will certainly

bring enough to pay one quarter's rent."

The tears were almost instantly dried from Mrs. Baillie's eyes, and she looked Anna steadily and earnestly in the face.

"Do you speak from your heart, Anna?" she

at length said.

"Of course I do, mother. It is of little use to me now. Certainly, far less than the money it will bring." "I will neither say yea nor nay, Anna. The instrument is yours, and you can do with it as you see best."

It was only half an hour after, that Anna Baillie entered an auction store, and made arrangements for its sale on the next day. But the trial was sore to her; for that piane, a beautiful and costly one, had been a birth-day present from her father, when she was fifteen years old; and now she valued it ten-fold on that account. But she subdued her feelings with an effort, and steadily proceeded in her arrangements for its disposal. On the same afternoon it was sent away. Her eves rested upon it for the last time, and then she retired to her chamber to weep. While in the presence of her mother, she tried to assume an air of indifference, but when alone, she suffered the current of her feelings to have an unrestrained flow.

On the morning of the day after the sale, she went to the auction store to learn the result.

"Did you sell that piano yesterday?" she asked of a clerk, whom she found at a desk in the store.

"What piano, Miss?" he said, eyeing her with a bold stare.

"Why, a very beautiful one, that I had sent here on the day before the sale."

"I am sure I don't know, Miss. The clerk who attends to that business is not in," still staring her in the face with a look that caused her to drop her eyes to the floor.

"When will he be in?" she inquired, in a disappointed tone.

"You will find him in this afternoon; he is

now out attending a sale."

"Can't you tell me how much it brought, if sold?" Anna ventured to ask.

" No, Miss, I can't. The clerk has the sale

book with him."

And so Anna was forced to go home without even the satisfaction of knowing whether her piano were sold or not.

"Well?" said her mother, in an inquiring tone, as Anna entered, and breathing heavily as she

awaited her answer.

"They could not tell me anything about it, mother."

" Why ?"

- "Because the clerk who attends to the sales was out."
 - "When did they say you could see him?"

"This afternoon."

"You must be sure and go then, Anna, for that collector has been here again this morning."

"Well?"

"I told him that he should certainly have his money to-morrow."

"And was he satisfied at that?"

"Not altogether; for he did not seem to believe my promise, but talked of distraint, if the money were not forthcoming in a day or two."

At three o'clock, Anna again entered, with a timid step, the auction store where her piano had been deposited. There were now several

men near the desk, all of whom looked at her steadily as she approached. She felt confused, and half alarmed, while the blood crimsoned her neck and face.

"Well, Miss?" said the clerk, as she came up

to the desk.

"Have you sold that piano, sir, that was left here day before yesterday?"

"Was it an old one, Miss?"

"O no, sir. It was a very handsome one."

"Yes, I remember now. It was a very handsome one when new, but had been in use some time. O, yes, that is sold."

"What did it bring?" and Anna's voice was husky, and she felt a choking sensation as she

asked the question.

- "One hundred and twenty dollars, Miss," the clerk replied, after referring to his account of sales.
- "You must be mistaken in the one, sir; mine was very elegant, and cost seven hundred dollars. It had been well kept, and was as good as new."
- "O no, I am not mistaken. It was left for sale by Anna Baillie."

"Yes, sir, that was the name."

"That was the piano that brought one hundred and twenty dollars, which was a very good price these times. Why, we sell pianos every day for from fifty to one hundred dollars—and most excellent ones, too. A new one can now be bought for one hundred and fifty, or two hundred dollars."

"Be kind enough to settle the bill for me," Anna said, for she perceived that her real feelings were too visible, and she wished to get awav.

"We cannot do it to-day, Miss. We have nothing out of bank, and it is after bank hours. But if you will come in to-morrow, you shall have your money."

"At what hour?" esked Anna.

"Say at about ten or eleven o'clock."

The poor girl turned slowly and sadly away, and went back to her home.

"Has it been sold?" asked her mother, anx-

iously, as she entered the door.

"Yes, mother, it has!" and she gave way to

a gush of tears.

Mrs. Baillie's heart sunk, and felt like lead in her bosom, at this indication that more disappointments awaited her.

"Be calm, my child," she said, affecting a composure that mocked the agitation within.

"I will try, mother," Anna said, with a strong effort to control her feelings; "though it is very hard. My beautiful instrument was sold for one hundred and twenty dollars. Not half enough to pay our quarter's rent."

"O, my dear child !-what shall we do !" Mrs. Baillie ejaculated, lifting her eyes upwards, involuntarily, as if human hope had failed in her

bosom.

For more than a minute the mother and daughter stood in silent, painful irresolution. Then each moved quietly, and almost stealthily away, to enter again upon the duties that awaited them.

The clock was striking ten, as Anna entered the store of the auctioneer on the next morning.

"Can you pay me that bill this morning?" she inquired, and the tones of her voice were again husky, and the words seemed to choke her in

giving them utterance.

"I am really sorry, Miss," the clerk said, bowing and smiling, with a blander air than he had exhibited on the previous day, "Mr. L—— has gone out, and he has the check book locked up in his desk. But come in almost at any time, and your bill shall be paid."

Anna felt sick and faint at this answer; for she knew that the collector of rent would be in during the morning, and she could not think of going home without the money.

"I will wait a little while," she said, after a

few moments of irresolution.

"I am sorry to say, Miss, that Mr. L—— will not return for an hour or so. But call in at almost any time through the day, and the money

shall be ready for you."

Anna was now compelled to go back again without the money. She dreaded to enter the house, for she felt sure that the landlord's agent was there awaiting her return. And, sure enough, his form was the first that met her eye, as she entered the sitting-room.

"Have you got the money?" Mrs. Baillie asked eagerly, advancing to the middle of the

floor, as she entered.

"Indeed, mother, I have not! The clerk told me that Mr. L —— was out, and had the checkbook locked up in his desk."

"And so I am not to get the rent, then, I sup-

pose!" the collector said, abruptly.

"How can we pay you, sir, without money?" was Mrs. Baillie's reply, in an appealing tone.

"A very sensible question, Ma'am. But still that don't suit us. When we rent a house, we

expect to get the money."

At this moment Mr. Lawton, who was later than usual in going to his store, came into the room, and perceived by the countenances of both Mrs. Baillie and her daughter, that they were in great distress of mind. His sympathies had already been much excited for them, especially since the quiet removal of Anna's beautiful piano, the cause of which he truly guessed.

"What is the matter Mrs. Baillie?" he asked, in a concerned tone, advancing to the centre of the room. "Is it anything in which I can be

of service to you?"

"Our rent is due, Mr. Lawton," Mrs. Baillie replied. "And to pay it, my daughter has sent her piano to auction. But now that it has been sold at a great sacrifice, she cannot get the money, and this man does not seem disposed to let us have a moment's time, if he can help it."

"I am sure, ma'am," spoke up the collector, "I have been running here for a week; and yesterday you promised, positively, that I should have my money this morning."

have my money this morning."

- "But you see how they have been disappointed." Mr. Lawton said.
- "Yes, but I have nothing to do with that. A promise is a promise, and never should be hroken."
- "It is two hundred and fifty dollars, is it not, Mrs. Baillie?" Mr. Lawton asked, turning towards her.
 - "Yes, sir; but-"
- "Well," turning again towards the collector, "bring your bill to my store, No. - Pearl-street, in an hour, and you shall have your money."

"Very well, sir, I will be there to the minute," was the reply, in an under tone, and the collector left the house.

"But, Mr. Lawton, the piano has only sold for one hundred and twenty dollars," Mrs. Baillie said: "and, therefore, the money for that will not be enough to repay you."

"O, never mind, Mrs. Baillie. The balance

can be placed to our boarding account."

"O, sir, you are very kind!" the widow said, with a full heart.

"And now, Anna," he added, turning to the daughter, "to whose auction store did you send vour piano?"

— & R——'s."

"The worst place in the city. For it is well known that they will cheat whenever a good opportunity offers. But come, I see you have your things on, and I will return there with you. I will get your money for you."

Mr. Lawton went direct to L & R 's

auction store, in company with Anna. One of the firm was in when they entered.

"I believe you sold a piano for Miss Baillie?"

Mr. Lawton said.

" For whom?"

"For this young lady."

"Well, I believe we did. How much did it

bring, William?" addressing a clerk.

William referred to the sales-book, and stated the amount for which it sold to be one hundred and twenty dollars.

While the clerk was looking over the book, Mr. Lawton stepped quickly up to him, and before he had time to close it, noted that the sum of one hundred and seventy-five dollars was marked opposite to the entry of the piano.

"You have made a mistake, have you not?" he asked, laying his hand upon the book, and touching the entry with his finger. "It should

be one hundred and seventy-five dollars."

The confusion of the clerk, on so sudden and unexpected a movement, betrayed the intended act of swindling. He stammered and apologized for his careless manner of examining the entry, and confessed the larger sum to be the true one.

The commission, amounting to seventeen dollars and fifty cents, was now deducted from the bill, and the net sum of one hundred and fiftyseven dollars fifty cents paid over to Mr. Lawton, who received the money in silence, and, bowing, left the store.

CHAPTER XII.

MORE SACRIFICES.

During the next six or seven weeks, Mrs. Baillie and her daughters found it impossible to provide comfortably for their boarders, on sixteen dollars a-week, all that remained to them while Mr. Lawton's board-money went to repay him for the advance he had made.

But one temporary resource remained to them, and that was to continue selling, now that they had commenced, articles for which they had no immediate use. Accordingly, a handsome silver tea service was disposed of, and by this means they were able to keep up the ordinary expenses of the house. But time hurried on with strange celerity, it seemed to them, for it brought the next quarter-day long before they were prepared for it.

"And now what shall we do?" was the anxious and troubled question of Mrs. Baillie.

"Something else will have to be sold," was

the sad, reluctant response of Anna.

"But what that something else is to be, I am sure I cannot tell," Mrs. Baillie said. "At the sacrifice we have to make, it takes a great many things to sell for two hundred and fifty dollars. I cannot see where all this is to end."

"It must end at last, mother, in scattering everything that we have," Anna replied, sadly.

"I have been sorry many times that we ever

undertook to keep a boarding-house."

"I don't know, Anna, anything else that we can do," Mrs. Baillie remarked, in a troubled and anxious voice.

"I have been thinking about that for some days," Anna said; "and I have pretty well made up my mind, that if you and Josephine can get along with my assistance at night, that I will learn some trade."

"But it will take you so long, Anna."

"By paying down fifty dollars, I can go to Madame Laclerc's, and have the privilege of working at the millinery business with her for six months. In that time, I know that I can learn it well; for I shall have strong incentives."

"But we have not fifty dollars to pay her, Anna, even if I could feel like giving my consent to your taxing your health so severely."

"As to that, mother, if it meet your approbation, I will sell my gold watch. The tax on my health cannot be greater than it now is."

"But the rent, Anna! Where is that to come

from?"

"I have some jewelry, mother, with a hand-

some gold chain that cost forty dollars."

"And there is my watch and chain, and all my jewelry, also, ma," said Josephine, who was present at the interview. "Take them, and welcome; they are of no use to me."

Both the mother and elder sister had felt anxious to spare Josephine every possible sacrifice.

And had, therefore, conversed but little of their doubts, and fears, and difficulties in her presence. The selling of Anna's piano was the first intimation she had received of the extremity to which they were reduced. She felt touched at the apparent cheerfulness with which her sister bore this sacrifice of a favourite instrument, and had often pondered in her mind, since that occurrence, over some means by which she could more effectually aid in the maintenance of the family. An opportunity now offered, and she came promptly and cheerfully forward.

"I do not wish to take your few little things, Josephine," her mother replied to her offer.

"O no; keep them, sister. We will try to

manage in some way."

"Haven't you sold your piano, and haven't you just offered to sell all your jewelry?" Josephine asked, in an earnest tone. "Let me, likewise, do all that I can. I am sure that I am willing."

The kind, self-sacrificing interest of her chil-

dren, affected Mrs. Baillie to tears.

"May our Father in heaven bless you both,

my children!" she said, fervently.

There was a brief pause, and in that pause, were entwined new chords around the hearts of that tried family, drawing them closer, and uniting them by ties of tenderer affection.

Anna was the first to break silence.

"If you feel thus, sister, we cannot refuse your aid. Are you willing, then, to take upon yourself additional cares and additional labours, while I endeavour to learn a trade at which we may, hereafter, be able to secure a more certain return for our efforts?"

"How could I be otherwise than willing, Anna?"

"Then, if we can get enough money to pay this quarter's rent, and mother does not object, I will begin at Mrs. Laclerc's at once. Will you consent, mother?"

"If you think that your health will bear up

under it, I cannot say no, my child."

The two gold watches, or rather three, for Mrs. Baillie's was added to the number; three gold chains, and various articles of jewelry, with a pair of silver fruit baskets, and a silver waiter, were sold to a regular dealer in those articles, and the sum of three hundred dollars obtained. With two hundred and fifty the second quarter's rent was paid, on its being called for, and the other fifty were paid to Mrs. Laclerc, on entering Anna at her millinery establishment, for the purpose of learning the art and mystery of bonnet making and trimming.

This sale included nearly everything superfluous that was owned by the mother and daughters. Beyond that resource there was nothing

left to fall back upon.

CHAPTER XIII.

EXTRACTING GOOD FROM EVIL.

In the meantime, these things could not transpire without coming under the observation of Mrs. Lawton, whose interest and sympathies, as well as those of her husband, were awakened, and their hearts made to feel deeply the trying condition of the widow and her children.

"It really makes my heart ache whenever I see Mrs. Baillie," Mrs. Lawton said to her husband one evening. "She evidently tries to look cheerful, but finds the effort unsuccessful. And Anna grows paler and thinner every day."

"I am afraid that Anna will break down her

constitution," Mr. Lawton remarked.

"And so am I. Her mother tells me that she is up and at work an hour or two before day every morning, and rarely goes to bed until eleven or twelve o'clock at night, besides sitting all day over the work-table at Mrs. Laclerc's."

"She is certainly an uncommon girl, and deserves, it would seem, a better fate. But I see no use in her overworking herself in the way

she does."

"I expect it is because they cannot afford to hire another servant," Mrs. Lawton said.

"Does not Margaret help them a good deal?"

inquired her husband.

"O, yes; she is at it almost the whole time. Indeed, she is now hardly any use to me, for 10*

there is so little help in the house, and so much to do, that I attend to the children nearly all the while myself, and let her work for them."

"In that case, you do not now find it a great deal easier on you than it was while we kept house."

"Just now it is not. But it is because I know that Margaret is wanted down stairs all the while, and I take a good deal upon myself for the sake of Mrs. Baillie."

"I cannot but commend you, Julia, for this self-sacrificing disposition," her husband said. "But now that you have begun it, I do not see where it is to end. You cannot again withdraw Margaret from assisting them, while you are conscious, that for every hour you keep her in your room, an hour more will be added to the toil of some member of this overburdened family."

"I see it all, and feel it sensibly," Mrs. Lawton replied. "But I must learn to consider the necessities of others more than my own ease—at least in the present case; irksome as it sometimes is to be confined so much in the house, and busy as it keeps me to attend to all the children. I often get very much fatigued with nursing little Henry so constantly, and frequently am on the eve of ringing for Margaret to come and relieve me, when a vivid sense of the condition of Mrs. Baillie makes me hesitate, and I at length conclude to keep on a little longer."

Mr. Lawton looked upon his wife with a new interest, as he listened to her simple account of her first experience in self-devotion for the good of others. Although Mrs. Baillie tried to do everything for their comfort, he had never been contented since he left his own house. But now he felt willing to put up with every inconvenience, and even the sense of having lost his home, that had been an abiding feeling with him, if by doing so, Julia would learn so fully to sympathize with others, as to be willing to deny herself for their sakes. Until she had learned this lesson fully, he knew that she could never find in the necessary duties of life that pleasure which should ever accompany their cheerful performance.

"And do you not often feel a glow of delight, my dear Julia," he said, in reply, "when the thought comes up vividly in your mind, that by denying yourself a little, you have relieved them

very much?"

"O yes, I often feel thus. And it is a very pleasant feeling, more than compensating for all

the self-sacrificing acts that produced it."

"Then you can, no doubt, understand what is meant by the delight of doing good to others. A sentiment that you could not, at one time, fully apprehend."

"Yes; I can readily understand what it means; for I have felt that delight recently,

though doubtless in a very small degree."

"You will feel it, in the performance of uses to others, in just the degree that you are actuated by a simple principle of benevolence, abstracted from any selfish desire of reward." "But I am sure, I could have no desire of reward in this case."

"Not of a reward in kind. But still, there may be in the mind, when we do a good action, the desire to be thought kind and benevolent, which desire may be the moving spring of the action. In such case, we look for a reward; and this selfish feeling will diminish the real delight which flows from the good deed."

"I see that, clear enough," Mrs. Lawton said.
"But it is a more abstract, or interior view of
the subject than I have ever before taken."

"And yet the true one."
"I certainly believe so."

"On the subject of doing good to others," Mr. Lawton added, "an eminent and profound theological writer has said, that the happiness of heaven consists in the delight of performing uses for the sake of uses; or, in other words, of doing good from the love of good, instead of from the love of reward, which is a selfish feeling; and all selfish feelings, this same writer says, produce unhappiness in the degree they are entertained."

"No wonder then, that none of us are happy," remarked Mrs. Lawton; "for we are all more

or less selfish in our feelings."

"No wonder indeed, Julia. How necessary, then, is it, if we would be happy, that we put away as far as we can, those thoughts and feelings that alone have reference to self; and cultivate the higher and better ones that have reference to the good of others as well as ourselves."

"And yet, to do good for the sake of the delight of doing good, it seems to me, would be a

selfish motive," Mrs. Lawton remarked.

"You are right there, Julia. We should do good for the sake of good. Or to bring down the idea a little lower, and make it more perceptible, we should do good to others because it will make others happier, and in doing it, have no thought of ourselves."

"O, if I could only act from such a motive, how glad I should be!" Mrs. Lawton said, with

an earnest emphasis.

"Begin then, dear Julia! in the endeavour to resist every feeling that is purely selfish. The effort may be attended, at first, with some pain, but that which you desire is worth all that the trial may cost you."

"But the task seems a hopeless one, when I see, as I now do, so vividly, how utterly selfish

I am."

"But you will not always have that vivid perception, Julia, and need not be discouraged because you have it now. Ordinarily, you will only be permitted to see the single selfish desire that is active, and when that single desire is seen, if you are only willing to resist it, you will find power in the very effort of resistance. A power that will weaken, if not subdue, the selfish principle."

"And by such efforts I will gradually gain

strength?"

"Just as a child, by repeated efforts, learns to walk."

"I will try, dear husband! For as I now feel, that which is to be gained by such trial, is worth all the effort it may cost."

"And you will conquer, if you only hold fast to your resolution, dear Julia!" her husband said, kissing her cheek, that was glowing with the feryour of a new affection.

CHAPTER XIV.

FAILURE OF THE FIRST EXPERIMENTS.

"You will have to wait a few weeks for this bill," Mrs. Baillie said to the landlord's agent, who had been prompt in his visit on the day of the expiration of the third quarter.

"A few weeks, Ma'am! I cannot wait a few

weeks. The rent is due to-day."

"I know that it is due to-day. But still, I haven't got the money, and therefore cannot give it to you. But I hope to have it soon."

"Hope to have it soon?"

The insolence of the collector's tone and manner excited the mind of Mrs. Baillie, already fretted in consequence of fearing his visit, and she turned upon him a steady, indignant glance, and said—

"I have already told you, sir, that you cannot

get your money to-day. And now, be pleased to retire."

The collector made an effort to reply, in terms more insulting, but he was instantly met by a calm, dignified, command to be silent, the moral force of which he could not resist. But after he had withdrawn from her presence, and the subduing sphere of her influence, his own selfish and resentful feelings came back upon him with a power increased by accumulation.

"She shall suffer for that!" he muttered between his teeth, as he strode hastily along the street, in the direction of his employer's resi-

dence.

Arrived there, he entered without pausing to knock or ring for admission, and in a few moments stood before a hard-featured old man, who sat at a low desk poring over an old and muchworn legal document. He raised his head, and as he pushed back his spectacles, displayed a pair of small, keen eyes, deeply sunk, restless, and flashing.

"Well?" was his brief interrogatory.

"There is a quarter's rent on the old house in Broome-street, and the tenant can't pay."

" How much is it?

"Two hundred and fifty dollars."

"Will the furniture bring the amount?"

"Yes."

" Distrain, then."

And the old man replaced his spectacles on his nose, and bent again over the paper he had been examining. The agent did not reply, but turned and left the house.

Just as Mr. Lawton was about leaving his room to return to his business after dinner of the same day, Anna appeared at the door in tears, and asked him to step down stairs; that her mother wanted to see him. Descending to the parlour, he found two men seated there, and Mrs. Baillie weeping bitterly.

"We have an unpleasant task to perform," said one of the men in a feeling tone, rising as Mr. Lawton entered. "It is our duty to take possession of the furniture in this house, under a

landlord's warrant."

"I am sorry to hear you say that, gentlemen. What is the amount of your warrant?"

"Two hundred and fifty dollars," was the re-

ply.

"A single quarter's rent. How long has it been due, Mrs. Baillie?"

"It is only due to-day, Mr. Lawton," Mrs.

Baillie replied.

"And the goods distrained already? That is

a singular proceeding, gentlemen!"

"We are but agents in the case, you know, sir; mere instruments of the law," one of the officers replied, in a mild tone. "We cannot be governed by the merits of the case; and never have any feeling, in the performance of our duty, unless it be pity for the victims."

"Thank you for your consideration, gentlemen, to a distressed family," Mr. Lawton said. "It is hardly necessary, I suppose, to trouble

them further, by going over the house for the purpose of taking an inventory. I will give you security that nothing shall be moved, until arrangements are made to pay the debt."

"O no, sir. Your security will be all-sufficient; and if you will give it to us now, we will at once retire, and relieve the ladies from our

necessarily unwelcome presence."

Mr. Lawton sat down to write a form of security. He half finished it, when he paused a moment, thoughtfully, and then wrote out a check for the amount of the rent. For this the officers passed their receipt, and then bowing, withdrew.

"Do not distress yourselves," he then said, turning to Mrs. Baillie and her two daughters, who were still weeping bitterly. "I have paid the quarter's rent for you, and so that trouble is

past."

This intelligence did not appear to quiet their feelings so much as Mr. Lawton expected that it would. Although Mrs. Baillie thanked him fervently for his unexpected act of kindness, yet her mind seemed in no way relieved, and she continued to weep, as if her spirits were completely broken down. And so they really were; for she saw nothing ahead to encourage her, and the present incidents were of a most distressing and mortifying character.

After a silence of some minutes, Mr. Lawton said--

"I am afraid, Mrs. Baillie, that you are going behindhand very fast."

"I know I am, Mr. Lawton," the widow replied, raising her head, and endeavouring to dry

her tears. "But, then, what can I do?"

"You have but three boarders now, besides my family, which makes your whole income only twenty-seven dollars a-week, and your rent alone amounts to twenty dollars. Your other expenses will more than double that sum. How is it possible, then, for you to get along?"

"What, then, ought I to do?" Mrs. Baillie

asked, in an earnest tone.

"You ought to give up keeping boarders at once, Mrs. Baillie."

" I have thought so myself. But if I give up,

I know not what to do."

"In three months, mother, I shall be done learning my trade," spoke up Anna, " and then we shall be able to do something."

"But what shall we do in the three months?" asked the mother.

"I'll tell you what I have been thinking," Anna resumed. "I have been thinking, that the best thing we could do would be to give up this house, sell off the most of our furniture, and rent a single room somewhere, at the lowest possible rent for which we could obtain one. How much more comfortably could we all live in a single room, than we now live in this large house! We have no inducement to make a show. Our former friends and associates have long since forgotten us. We could get a room somewhere up town, no doubt, for five dollars a month. I have heard of rooms renting for that. And it would not cost

us much to live, for we would want no servant. The money we obtained from the sale of our furniture would be all sufficient to support us under the small expense until I was through with learning my trade; and then, I trust, a brighter day will dawn upon us. What do you think of my plan, Mr. Lawton?"

"I think it excellent, Anna, and would ear-

nestly advise its immediate adoption."

"And how does it strike you, mother?"

"I like it much better than the idea of con-

tinuing as we are," Mrs. Baillie replied.

"Then do not hesitate a moment to adopt it. And in the mean time, I will not only look out for a new boarding-house, but will endeavour to find a good room for you; and also will assist in every way that I can in the removal and dis-

position of your furniture."

Under this advice, Mrs. Baillie at once acted. Her boarders were given up, and an immediate sale of a large portion of her furniture advertised. But so much that was really valuable had already been parted with, that the proceeds of this sale was only about three hundred dollars; and then, all that was left to her were two beds, with their furniture, and plain furniture for two rooms. this sum, two hundred and fifty were tendered to Mr. Lawton, in repayment of his settlement of the last quarter's rent. But he declined receiving it.

"I fear, Mrs. Baillie," he said, "that Mrs. Lawton and I were to blame in inducing you to rent this house. If we had not encouraged you to do so, you would, probably, never have tried this ruinous experiment; and therefore it is but right that I should bear a part of the loss, especially as I am more able to do so than you are. I will not, therefore, take one cent from you. You will want it all, and more too."

Words were too feeble to express Mrs. Baillie's sense of Mr. Lawton's kindness to her, and she did not attempt to give it utterance; but she bowed her head upon her bosom, and wept.

In the course of a week, she retired with her children to a comfortable room that Mr. Lawton had procured for them, at a rent of six dollars a month. And thus ended the first experiment

in boarding, and in taking boarders.

Mr. Lawton lost two hundred and fifty dollars by that experiment; but poor Mrs. Baillie lost three times as much, and gained a world of Nor had Mr. Lawton, or any member of his family, been so comfortable and contented as they were while under their own roof, not even Mrs. Lawton herself; although she, perhaps, was a gainer over the rest, as the chapter immediately preceding this has indicated. Still. even the widow and her daughters were really benefitted "in the long run," as it is said. For they were now able to fall back, without pain of mind, to a position in which there were no artificial wants to supply; in which their little fund was more than sufficient to support them until Anna had finished learning her trade. fact, they had over two hundred dollars, as a little capital on which to set up business after Anna had completed her term at Mrs. Laclerc's, for both Mrs. Baillie and Josephine had employed their time in sewing, and thus earned nearly enough to meet all their expenses.

CHAPTER XV.

THE NEW BOARDING-HOUSE.

THE search for a new boarding-house was attended, of course, by its own difficulties, anxieties, and disappointments.

"What success?" asked Mrs. Lawton, as her husband came in after his first effort to obtain a

new home.

- "Not such as I would like; but, perhaps, as good as might have been expected. I have seen three lady boarding-house keepers."
 - "Well ?"

"The first said that she would take us for thirty dollars a month."

"Just double what we have been paying!"

"Yes; of course I treated no further with her. I then went to see a Mrs. —, in Barclay-street, who keeps a very genteel, though not fashionable house. She could not spare us a parlour, but had two chambers in the third story adjoining each other, which she could let us have, with boarding, at twenty dollars a week."

"We must have a parlour," Mrs. Lawton said.

"I thought that you would not like the arrangement," resumed her husband, "and so I called on another lady, who keeps at the upper end of Varick-street."

"That is too far out of the way."

"Yes; it is a long distance from business."

"Nor is it a pleasant part of the town?"

"No; it is not."

"But what was the result of your interview?"

- "Well, the landlady agreed to take us at twenty-two dollars, and furnish a parlour and two bedrooms."
 - "Did you look at them?"

"O, yes."

"Were they pleasant rooms?"

"Not very. The chambers were in the third story, and small, and one of them had no window in it; being, as it were, a large recess, or closet, opening off from the main chamber."

Mrs. Lawton shook her head.

"Is it large enough for a doub

"Is it large enough for a double bed?" she asked, after pausing a few moments.

"O, yes; plenty large enough for that. But warm weather is coming on, and it will be a

very hot and uncomfortable place."

"A much pleasanter situation might be found at the same price, I should think," Mrs. Lawton said.

"No doubt of it. And to-morrow I will look around again."

On the next day Mr. Lawton resumed his

search, but with not even the success of the first trial. He found plenty of boarding-houses, of course, but some charged too high, while others could not offer such accommodations as his family required. The third day closed with no better prospect of getting an agreeable boarding-house.

"I suppose we shall have to put up with that which is nearest to our idea of comfort and convenience, among the many places at which I have called," Mr. Lawton said, as he sat alone with his wife, on the evening of the third day of the search.

"I am afraid that we shall."

"Which do you like best, of those under twenty-five dollars a week?"

"Really, I can hardly tell. But I seem to prefer that in ——street, with the parlour and two chambers, at twenty-two dollars a week. Still. I do not like the room with no window."

"No, nor I."

"It could not make much difference now, but hot weather will be here in a few weeks. Still, I don't see what else we can do."

"I am afraid that we shall never get another place like this," Mr. Lawton remarked. "Our own friends could not have been kinder; and these rooms are delightful."

"No, indeed, that we will not."

"But there is no time to lose. Day after tomorrow Mrs. Baillie's sale takes place, and, therefore, we cannot stay more than one night after this, at the farthest."



This was bringing the matter down to a point that could not be evaded, and so, after talking it over for an hour or so, it was finally concluded to remove on the next day to the house where a parlour and two small chambers were furnished, with boarding, at twenty-two dollars a week. This being settled, the removal was effected in due time.

How well Mr. and Mrs. Lawton were pleased with their new home will appear by the following conversation which occurred after the children had retired for the evening, about a month from the time of their removal from Mrs. Baillie's.

"What is this?" asked Mr. Lawton, as his wife handed him a long bill.

"It is a bill for extras that Mrs. Newell sent up this afternoon."

"For extras?"

"Yes: so she calls them."

"Twenty dollars in a month for extras! Really, I don't understand it!"

"Nor did I at first. But, I believe I see into it now."

"Then I wish you would enlighten me, Julia," Mr. Lawton said, "for it is all dark to my mind."

"You know that we have always been in the habit of sending Margaret down for a pie, or something of that kind, towards bed-time."

"Yes."

"Well, you will see a pie, or cakes, or bread

and butter, charged regularly every day in the bill at twenty-five cents."

"Let me see. Ah, yes! here it is."

"And then you will see as regularly put down, 'luncheon for Mrs. Lawton and children at eleven o'clock.'"

"Yes, I see that also. And the charge is

twenty-five cents more."

"And then there is a charge for every time the children received bread and butter through the day; and fifty cents a meal for all our visiters. And you know Ma is here at least once a week, and stays to tea."

"O yes, I fully comprehend it all now!" Mr. Lawton said, half laughing, and half disposed to feel indignant, as the first clear idea glanced

through his mind.

"Well, isn't it abominable?" remarked his

wife, in a somewhat excited tone.

"I don't know, Julia, now I come to think of it, that we have any particular right to complain," he replied. "We pay for three meals a day, and there our contract ends. If we want extras, we must pay for them, of course. That is the rule, no doubt, and our surprise is occasioned by our not having been acquainted with the rule."

"We pay for our boarding, and I am sure that ought to include enough to eat. But it seems that it does not, neither first nor last. We give more by seven dollars a week, than we did at Mrs. Baillie's, and the fare isn't half so good. And there they never thought of charging us for what was eaten between meals."

"Nor is any thing so pleasant as it was there," added Mr. Lawton. "The house is not kept so clean, nor are the boarders as agreeable as were the young men we had at Mrs. Baillie's."

"Indeed they are not. And as to that Mrs. Phipps, who sits just opposite to us at the table, I cannot bear her. Every day, almost, she comes up and sits with me for an hour or two, and worries me almost to death with her tittletattle. She speaks well of no one, and often talks about things of which I do not wish Florence to hear, compelling me to send her away, out of hearing."

"Really, that is an annoyance!"

"It is, indeed! And so sure as I happen to say, in her presence, that I intend walking out, she will propose to go with me."

"I would rather not have you seen in the street with Mrs. Phipps," Mr. Lawton remarked

in a grave tone.

"Why not, dear? Do you know anything about her?" asked Mrs. Lawton, eagerly.

"No, Julia. Only, I neither like her appear-

ance nor her manners."

"Nor, do I. At first I could not help myself. But I take good care now. But this is not the worst. Her Lizzy is a girl of very bad behaviour, and I can't keep her away from Florence when she is home from school; unless I drive her right down stairs. And that I don't like to do; for I can see that her mother is a woman of high temper, and I dread to have any difficulty with her."

"Still, Julia, our duty to our children is to protect them, by all possible means, from every association that may injure them. If you really think that it has a bad effect upon Florence to associate with Lizzy Phipps, you ought, by all means, to keep them apart."

"But Lizzy is in the habit of walking into our

room so soon as Florence comes home."

"Then you will have to tell her plainly, that she must not do so. How much better is it that her mother should be angry, than our child corrupted."

"I feel the force of what you say; and I have thought the same myself," Mrs. Lawton replied. "And yet, I cannot but hesitate to offend, de-

liberately, a fellow-boarder."

"Nevertheless, you should resolutely determine to act from your clear convictions of right. And, surely, the moral health of your children is a motive strong enough to determine you to offend any one who is willing to be offended, because you use every means in your power to protect them from improper influences."

"I see the truth you utter, dear husband! And not only see it, but feel its force," Mrs.

Lawton said.

"Then, for your children's sake, endeavour to act in obedience to that truth."

"I will try," was the simple, but earnest answer.

CHAPTER XVI.

TROUBLE IN EARNEST.

It was about a week after the conversation alluded to, that Mr. and Mrs. Lawton, just after dinner, were seated in their parlour, when there was a quick, loud rap at their door, followed by the entrance of one of the boarders, a Mrs. Parr. Her face was red, and her eyes flashing with excitement.

"How do you do, Mrs. Parr?" said Mr. Law-

ton, rising, and offering her a chair.

"No, I thank you, sir," Mrs. Parr replied, straightening herself up, and placing one hand upon her hip. "I have come in to say, Mrs. Lawton," she began in an elevated tone of voice,—"that I can't stand it any longer the way your Jim treats my little Tommy—and I won't stand it, neither! I'll leave the house first, I will!"

"I am very sorry that any thing has gone wrong between the children, Mrs. Parr," replied Mrs. Lawton, her words seeming to choke her as she uttered them, while her voice was low and husky. "If James has treated your little boy in an improper manner, he shall certainly be punished for it."

"Well, he did treat him bad! He always treats him bad! He never sees him but he pushes him, or knocks him over, or does something to him! He is a very bad boy, Mrs. Lawton! and ought to be half killed for his ugliness

to the other children in the house. I never saw a worse one in my life; and if you don't take better care of him, he will come to the gallows in the end, so he will!"

"But what has James done to your little boy, Mrs. Parr?" inquired Mr. Lawton. "I should

like to know very much."

"Done to him? Why, he is always a doing to him. He never sees him but he does something to him!"

"Still, your accusation is so indefinite, that I know not how to correct my boy, if he has done

wrong?" Mr. Lawton said, calmly.

"Done wrong? Humph! That is too bad! He might kill my little Tommy, I suppose, and you'd want to know if he had done any thing wrong! Humph!"

"But tell me, in a word, Mrs. Parr, what

James has done to your little boy?"

"Why, he pushed him over, so he did, the wretch! and almost knocked his head off. And he does it every day of his life. But let me once catch him at it, and it'll be the last time he touches my boy!"

And Mrs. Parr clenched her teeth and hands, and looked the personification of anger and re-

venge.

"Call Margaret up, Julia, if you please," Mr.

Lawton said, turning to his wife.

"O, you needn't call her up to ask about it, for she is just as bad as he is, and encourages him to pick upon the other children in the house!"

12

"Call her, if you please, Julia," Mr. Lawton again said, seeing that his wife hesitated.

In a few moments Margaret appeared.

- "Has there been any difficulty to-day, between James and Thomas Parr, Margaret?" he asked.
- "There was a little disturbance between them just now, sir."
 - "Well, Margaret, did you see it?"

"Yes, sir."

"And who else?"

"Why, John the waiter saw it. And so did Fanny, the cook."

"Ask them to come up here for a minute or two." And Margaret departed on her errand.

In a few moments Margaret re-appeared, with

John and Fanny.

"John, did you see my little boy push Thomas Parr over?" Mr. Lawton asked, calmly.

"Yes, sir, I did."

- "Well, John, tell me exactly how it happened, and in doing so I wish you to conceal nothing that James has done. If he is wholly to blame in the matter, I would a thousand times rather know it."
- "I will tell you exactly, sir. Your little boy was rolling his hoop in the yard, when Tommy Parr ran out, and jerked it up, and before James could catch him, threw it over into the next vard."

"Well?"

"And then James caught hold of him, and was going to push him over, but Tommy screamed out, and then he let him go, and Tommy ran up stairs to his mother."

"Did you see it also, Fanny?" inquired Mr.

Lawton.

- "Yes, sir. And it happened just as John has said."
 - "It's all a made up lie, so it is!" exclaimed

Mrs. Parr, still more angrily.

"There is another thing that I would like to know, John, and, as before, I want nothing but the simple truth. Did you ever see James strike Mrs. Parr's little boy?"

"No, sir."

"Did you ever see him push Thomas over?"

"Yes, sir."

"Often?"

"Yes; a good many times."

"How came he to do so, John?"

- "He done it because Tommy wouldn't let him alone. He never picks on Tommy, or any one; but Tommy is always picking on him."
 - "It's a lie!" again exclaimed Mrs. Parr.
- "No, Ma'am, it is not a lie," John replied.
 "I never tell lies."
- "Has he ever hurt Thomas?" further inquired Mr. Lawton.
- "Hurt him, sir? No, I don't believe he ever hurt him any at all. But there is no telling, for Tommy screams out, if any of the children look at him."
- "That will do, John. You and Sally can go down again," Mr. Lawton said. "And now, Mrs. Parr," he continued. "I hope you are

satisfied that my little boy has no disposition to hurt yours."

"Indeed, then, and I am not satisfied of any such thing. I know that he does push and knock him about whenever he gets a chance, the little devil!" and so saying, Mrs. Parr swept out of the room, her passion unallayed.

"Here comes trouble, at last, in good earnest," Mr. Lawton said, as Mrs. Parr banged the door

to after her.

"And only the beginning of it, I am afraid," replied Mrs. Lawton. "For I sent Lizzy Phipps down stairs this morning, and told her, that I did not wish her and Florence to be together so much."

"Did she make you any reply?"

"O yes. She warmed up in a minute, and said, with an indignant look, 'Humph! I s'pose you think that I ain't good enough to keep company with your Florence.'"

"And she has told her mother, no doubt."

"O, of course; and she looked black enough at me while we sat at the dinner-table to-day."

"Then I suppose we must prepare for another storm."

"Yes. For-"

Mrs. Lawton did not finish her sentence, for the door opened, and in stalked the object of their conversation, with an indignant expression on her countenance.

"I have come in, Mrs. Lawton," began Mrs. Phipps, "to know what you meant by telling

my Lizzy that you didn't want her and Florence to be together so much?"

"I meant simply what I said," Mrs. Lawton replied, in a firm tone, for she now began to feel herself indignant at the unreasonableness and assurance of her fellow-boarders.

"You did, did you? And what's the reason, pray, that you don't want my Lizzy to keep company with your Florence? She is as good as

she is, any day, let me tell you."

"I said nothing to the contrary, Mrs. Phipps. Still, as she is a noisy, rude, ill-behaved girl, who uses bad words, sometimes, I do not wish Florence to be in her company any more than

can possibly be helped."

This was talking out pretty plainly, and much plainer than Mrs. Lawton had before any idea that she could ever speak to a mother about her own child. But she felt provoked, and that set her tongue free. As might have been expected, Mrs. Phipps went off into a blaze at once.

"She's as good as you, or any of your ugly breed, let me tell you, Mrs. Lawton! And ten hundred thousand million times better! Talk about my Lizzy being ill-behaved, you good-fornothing, proud, stuck-up creature you! I'd like to know what you sprung from, to set yourself up for a lady. A lady! A lady! "drawing the word out with a tone and look of ineffable contempt. "But that is always the way with them that spring from the dirt."

"I cannot suffer any one, man or woman to use such language to my wife," Mr. Lawton

said, rising and going towards Mrs. Phipps; "and so, madam, you will please to leave the room."

"And I wonder how you'll help it, sir! I wonder how you'll help it, sir!"

"Go down stairs, Mrs. Phipps."

"I won't go down! I won't go down! You are both a mean, low-lived couple, and all the

boarders in the house know it!"

Mr. Lawton, finding that their visiter had no disposition to retire, went up to her, and taking her by the arm, led her to the door, and, after thrusting her out by main force, for she resisted him, closed it after her. To her resistance were added loud, passionate cries for her husband. Overcome by her angry feelings, when she found herself fairly shut out of the room, she sank upon the floor, and continued to scream more passionately than before. Mr. Phipps, who had not yet gone out, started in alarm when he heard the cries of his wife, and sprang up the stairs to see what was the matter. He found her lying on the floor, near the entrance to Mr. Lawton's room, panting and screaming hysterically.

"What ails you, Jane? What is the matter? What have they done to you?" he asked, in an anxious tone, for he felt alarmed, as he lifted her up, and then supported her, while both passed down stairs to their own room as quickly as possible. There he let her sink, really too weak from passion to support herself on her feet, into

a chair.

"And now, Jane," Mr. Phipps said, standing

before her, his face growing dark with anger, "tell me what they have done to you! Let it be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth."

"Why, Mr. Lawton abused me as if I had been one of the vilest creatures in town, and then took hold of me and pushed me out of the room with all his might. He might have killed me."

Mr. Phipps paused to hear no more, but picked up a cane and hastily left the room. At his door he was met by four or five of the boarders, who had been attracted by his wife's screams.

"What is the matter?" What is the matter?" was asked in eager tones, but Mr. Phipps stopped to answer no questions. Springing up the stairs, he swung open the door of Mr. Lawton's sitting-room, and walked in, cane in hand, with a furious aspect of countenance.

Mrs. Lawton screamed and turned pale.

"Don't be alarmed, Julia," her husband said, in a calm tone, as he rose to his feet. Then turning to his excited visiter, he said, sternly,

"Leave this room, sir, on the instant!"

By this time a number of curious faces were to be seen clustered around the door.

The calm, decisive, fearless tone and manner of Mr. Lawton cooled off his assailant several degrees, which was indicated by an involuntary lowering of his cane, that was held over his head in a menacing position, as he entered the room.

"I want to know, sir," began Mr. Phipps, "how you dared to ——"

"Leave this room, sir, without another word, or I will pitch you down stairs! These are my premises, remember!"

"I won't go till I have satisfaction," Mr.

Phipps began, with a flourish of his cane.

"Won't you?" And Mr. Lawton strode towards him with an air of determination not to be mistaken. The other paused but a moment, and then turning, glided from the room, amid an involuntary burst of laughter from the group of boarders and servants at the door.

"What is the matter, Lawton?" asked one of

the spectators of this scene.

"The matter is simply this. My wife took the liberty of telling Mr. Phipps' little girl that she did not wish her to come up into her room so often; and Mrs. Phipps got angry at this, and was so thoughtless and imprudent as to come up here and use very ill language to Mrs. Lawton. As it occurred in my presence, I told her she must cease or leave the room. As she would do neither, I took her by the arm and led her out, as I should do again under similar circumstances. I feel bound to protect my wife from insult in all cases, and I shall do so while I have the power."

"Right!" "Right!" "Right!" was responded from several of the group, and then all dispersed, leaving the different actors in this unpleasant, and, to one party, disgraceful affair, to

their own reflections.

Poor Mrs. Lawton was much alarmed, and it was a long time before her husband could soothe down her agitated feelings.

"This is dreadful!" she said, giving way to tears.

"Don't let it agitate you, Julia, it is all over now."

"O, but I am afraid, dear husband, that Mr. Phipps will do you some harm. He looked so wicked when he came in."

"Don't give yourself a single uneasy thought about that, Julia. I know precisely what kind of a man Phipps is; and, therefore, have no more fear of his making another attack upon me, than I have of the sky's falling. One trial of that kind is all-sufficient for him."

"Dear father, let us go away from here!" Florence now said, coming out from the chamber, with pale face, tearful eyes, and trembling lips. "It isn't a good place to live in at all, and I don't want to stay."

"Why is it not a good place, my daughter?"

asked Mr. Lawton, soothingly.

"Because it isn't like it was at Mrs. Baillie's. There all of them were kind to us; and we could have as much as we wanted at the table. But we can't get it here, unless we choose to want more potatoes and bread than anything else, and I never liked potatoes; and Mrs. Newell always looks and speaks so cross at us children while we are at the table. I wish we were only home again."

"Ain't we never going to go home again, fa-

ther?" spoke up James.

"Why, this is your home, James," Mrs. Lawton said to the little boy.

"O no, it isn't any kind of a home."

"Why not, my son?"

"Because you nor father can't do what you please in this house. And we have to stay up in these rooms so much. When we were home we could go where we pleased, and there was no one to say, 'Clear out there, and go off up into your own room!'"

Mr. Lawton felt keenly the innocent and earnest regrets of the child, and were it not that he had fully resolved not to recommence housekeeping until his wife had become so completely sick of boarding as to propose the change herself, he would have then urged upon her the propriety of their at once resuming housekeeping. But he thought it best to have the boarding mania thoroughly cured, now that it was under treatment.

"I think, Julia, we had better look out for another boarding-house," he said, after the silence

of a few moments.

"I shall certainly never be happy here," Mrs. Lawton responded. "Two of the boarders are mortally offended, and, of course, we can meet no longer upon even the common terms of civility."

"That is very true; and to live so, will be

exceedingly unpleasant."

"Indeed it will! There is that cough again!" she added, in a lower tone, and one indicating a feeling of uneasiness, as Florence gave one or two hoarse, resounding coughs.

"Why, how long has she had that? I did not notice it before," the father said; and then call-

ing Florence to him, took hold of her hand, which he found to be hot, and perceived other indications of fever.

"Don't you feel well, dear?" he asked, draw-

ing her to his side.

"Not very well, father. I feel hot all over,

and my throat has been a little sore all day."

"I didn't know that, Florence!" her mother said, in surprise, and some alarm. "And now I come to notice it, how red her skin looks," she added, turning to her husband.

The name of a fatal disease, of which there had been one case in the house recently, trembled upon the tongue of each, but neither had

the resolution to mention it.

"If she is no better when I return this evening, I will call in the doctor," Mr. Lawton said, as he was about parting with his wife at the door.

"Yes, by all means. But ain't you afraid Mr. Phipps will ——"

"Will what, Julia?"

"Will attack you in a secret manner."

"Not in the least."

"Well, I am," his wife replied, while a shade

of fear passed over her countenance.

"There is not the slightest danger, I do assure you, Julia. Phipps is, by this time, I have not the least doubt, heartily ashamed of himself."

"I wish you would look out for a new place soon, for I shall have no more peace while I stay here," Julia said, after a few moments of troubled silence. "I will, this very afternoon," and so saying,

Mr. Lawton departed for his store.

As he came down the stairs and through the passages, he had to pass near the room occupied by Mr. Phipps and his wife. When a few steps beyond the door of this room, it was opened, and Mr. P. glided out and followed close after Mr. Lawton. A momentary thrill ran through the nerves of the latter, for, although he could not believe that the man would offer, in cool blood, to harm him, yet the thought passed instantly through his mind, that under the excitement of angry feelings, he might be tempted of evil spirits to do him some personal injury.

He, therefore, while he seemed not to notice Mr. Phipps, as he pursued his way towards the front door, was yet perfectly on his guard. The latter did not speak until they were both in the street. Then coming to the side of Mr. Law-

ton, he said-

"I believe I have acted like a fool, Mr. Lawton, as I always do, when I suffer myself to get into a passion without really knowing the cause why."

"Now you talk like a rational man, Mr. Phipps, and I shall be pleased to offer any explanation

that circumstances may seem to require."

"I have not come to ask for explanations, Mr. Lawton, but to apologize for my really outrageous conduct in coming to your room, in the spirit and manner that I did."

"Having done that, Mr. Phipps, it is now but justice to yourself and to myself, that I should



explain the causes of the unpleasant occurrence that took place in my room. They are simply these. My wife, as well as myself, thought that it would be much better for your little girl and mine to be less frequently in each other's company. Accordingly we kept Florence in our own rooms, most of the time when she was home from school. But this had not the desired effect, for Lizzy's very natural desire for company of her own age was so great that she would come up to see Florence so soon as she came home from school. It then became my wife's duty to speak to her about it, and request her not to do so. Was there any thing wrong in that, Mr. Phipps?"

"O no, sir; nothing at all. We have few enough comforts in a boarding-house, any how, and it would be hard indeed, if our own rooms were not free from intrusion."

"Well; Mrs. Phipps came in and complained of this, which caused my wife to use some very plain talk, and then——"

"I understand it all perfectly, Mr. Lawton. I know my wife's infirmity of temper, and my own too. You had to put her out of the room."

"I did. And much I regretted the necessity."

"It was rather a severe remedy, Mr. Lawton, though, for all."

"I admit it. But what could I do? She was getting more and more excited every moment."

"I don't blame you, sir;" and Mr. Phipps sighed and remained silent for some moments.

13

At length he said, with an emphasis that indi-

cated his having felt on the subject-

"How I do detest this miserable system of boarding! Every man ought to have his own family in his own house. If he can't afford to have a big house, let him have a little one, say I. I've never been in a boarding-house yet, that there hasn't been trouble among the children. And I am sure not a month passes round that I am not put into hot water about mine."

"I agree with you, there, perfectly, Mr. Phipps."

"I only wish that my wife did, Mr. Lawton. In that case I wouldn't be here twenty-four hours. But she's got a notion in her head that, for a man to expect his wife to take care of his house for him, is for him to want to make a slave of her. She never seems to think that I have to work, steadily, ten and twelve hours a day, and sometimes longer, to support the family. That is all nothing. But if I complain about my clothes being neglected, and the children not well attended to, I am told that I needn't expect that she's agoing to make a slave of herself for me or them either. I was once in hopes that she would learn better as she grew older. But I see no improvement."

Thus Mr. Phipps run on, until it became necessary for him and Mr. Lawton to take different directions; when they shook hands, and parted

in mutual good will.

CHAPTER XVII.

SICKNESS.

"How is Florence now?" asked Mr. Lawton, in a tone of concern which showed that he had been thinking about her during the afternoon with some feelings of anxiety.

"She seems to me a good deal worse," Mrs. Lawton said. "She is asleep now, but breathes heavily, and her skin is very dry and hot."

"Has she complained of any particular sen-

sation of uneasiness or pain?"

"Yes. She says that her head aches, and that her throat is very sore."

"Then I think it best that I should go for the

doctor at once."

"So do I; for I'm really afraid that it is the scarlet fever," Mrs. Lawton said, turning pale as she gave utterance to the name of a disease, the thought of which makes every mother's heart tremble and sink in her bosom.

"I hope not, indeed!" her husband replied, as he turned hastily away to go for the physician.

When he returned, he found that Florence had awakened from the brief slumber into which she had fallen. She complained of a general uneasiness, with flushes of heat running over the whole body, sore throat, and headache. Her skin was red, dry, and hot. All these symptoms produced in the minds of her parents great uneasiness, and they waited the arrival of the

physician with increasing anxiety. He came about nine o'clock that evening, and carefully examined into the condition of his patient.

"Has she been exposed to the measles?" he asked, after he had observed the entire group of

symptoms.

"Not to our knowledge," was the reply. "Do you think that it is nothing more than the measles, doctor?" Mrs. Lawton asked, in an anxious tone.

"I hope not, madam," was the answer.

A few simple directions were given by the physician, who promised to call early on the next morning, and then he went away, leaving the hearts of the parents heavier with anxiety than they were when he came in. That, "I hope not," with the peculiar tone in which it was uttered, haunted both their minds, in spite of all their efforts to forget it.

In the morning when the doctor came in, he found all the symptoms aggravated. The skin of his patient was dry and burning; her respiration hurried and difficult, interrupted by frequent sighs; her tonsils swollen and inflamed, and the swallowing, even of saliva, attended with soreness and pain. All this was accompanied by a hurried circulation of the blood. And to add to the alarming symptoms, her head was so much affected, that there was an evident tendency to delirium. There was now no mistaking it for a case of scarlet fever, in one of its most dangerous forms. This fact he at once communicated to the parents, with the announcement, that the



life of their child depended upon their strict attention to all his prescriptions and directions.

And now the inconveniences and difficulties of their position, as occupants of a boardinghouse, were perceived in a new aspect, and felt with painful acuteness. Confined to one part of the house, they had no means of removing the two younger children beyond the atmosphere which Florence breathed, and were thus compelled to leave them exposed to the dangers of contagion. Instead, too, of the large, airy chambers which their own house had afforded, an arrangement so indispensable in sickness, they were cooped up, as it were, in two very small bed-rooms, one but little larger than a closet, and containing no window. The season, too. had advanced, and they were now amid the first warm, sultry, oppressive days of summer. To make this condition of things in some way tolerable, they removed the bed upon which Florence lay out into the more roomy parlour. Still, this was but a slight alleviation of all the difficulties that presented themselves, the worst of which was, the necessity of keeping James and Henry, now two years old, in such immediate contact with the disease.

To prevent, if possible, the ill effects of this exposure, the doctor administered to the two children who were not affected with the disease, several drops of the extract of belladonna, daily, after the manner of the German physicians.

About the fourth day, the condition of Florence was pitiable indeed. Her throat was al-

most black with ulcerations; and the whole surface of her body was red and swollen, resembling a vast erysipelas, with here and there livid spots, especially on the neck and face. She seemed to possess little consciousness, except pain and uneasiness.

The case was one of such extreme malignancy, that scarcely any of the boarders dared venture into Mrs. Lawton's rooms, for fear of conta-Had it not been for her mother's assistance in relieving her from incessant watchings and attentions, her own health would doubtless have given way. But, situated as they were, it was difficult to afford anything like a comfortable arrangement for Julia's mother to remain over night, the very time when she felt most need of her attentions. It was in vain that Mr. Lawton applied for the use of another chamber for himself; it could not be had. Every one was taken up. The house was full. And so, through the hot days and sultry nights, all were compelled to remain in their allotted portion of the house.

"Doctor, is there any hope?" asked Mrs. Lawton of the physician, on the sixth day of the disease, her countenance expressing the most intense and painful anxiety. She had asked this question often before, and as often had it been evaded, with the remark, "Where there is life, there is hope."

"There is hope, madam," the physician replied, looking up from his little patient, over whom he had been bending for the last five min-

utes, with an anxiety only exceeded by that of

her parents.

The tone in which those few words were uttered was not to be mistaken. Mrs. Lawton's heart trembled for a few moments; then covering her face with her hands, she leaned forward against the bed, near which she was standing. There was no sound of weeping, but the tears trickled through her fingers, and fell fast upon the pillow that supported the head of her dear child.

"And yet there is much to fear, Mrs. Lawton," the physician added, after the pause of a few moments. "All the skill I possess, and all the care you have to bestow, will be required, for the re-active power of nature will be feeble indeed."

And so it proved; for full two days, Florence lay in a condition so low, that hope almost failed in the hearts of the parents. Then there was an evident healthy re-action of the whole system, which steadily and slowly progressed, until she was pronounced out of danger.

But, alas! the joy that trembled in the hearts of the parents and friends was of but brief duration. On the same day that Florence sat up, a little while, for the first time, in her bed, little Henry was observed to droop about. In alarm, the physician was again sent for, who was concerned to find all the premonitory symptoms precisely resembling those which were exhibited when he was called in to see Florence. And now the heart of poor Mrs. Lawton sunk like a

weight in her bosom. Wearied and exhausted by ten days and nights of confinement, watching, and anxiety, the tone of her mind was gone, and she gave way, for a time, to utter despondency. From this, however, she was soon roused by the condition of her child, that required every thought and care in her power to bestow.

Nearly two days passed without the physician being able to determine the nature of the disease—two days of intense and painful anxiety to the parents—though, in his own mind, there was little hope of its being anything of a milder char-

acter than scarlatina.

"Do you think it the scarlet fever, doctor?" asked Mrs. Lawton, for the fourth or fifth time, in an anxious tone.

"I hope not, Mrs. Lawton."

"O, I am afraid that it is, doctor. He was taken just like Florence, and every symptom now resembles those which she had."

"That is true, madam. And yet it may not

be the scarlet fever."

"What else can it be, doctor?"

"It may be nothing but measles, Mrs. Lawton."

"But he hasn't been exposed to them at all."

"And yet, it often happens that children take the measles, or whooping cough, without the parents being at all able to learn in what way they have been exposed to it. Hope for the best, Mrs. Lawton. I always do."

"But here there seems little hope," was the

desponding reply. "There has been scarlet fever here, but no measles."

The force of that reply silenced the physician, for he felt it, and the effect was to diminish the hope he had himself entertained that possibly the child's sickness might be nothing more than the early stage of measles.

"To-morrow will determine all," he said, as he rose to depart; "and, in the meantime, be careful not to let him be exposed to draughts of air."

The next twenty-four hours were passed, by Mrs. Lawton and her husband, in a state of painful suspense and anxiety. Neither of them slept over an hour or two during the night; and, indeed, they had now no accommodation for comfortable repose. The little dark chamber was so close and warm, that neither of the sick children could sleep there. The bed in their own chamber was occupied by Florence, and now that which had been made up in the parlour had to be appropriated to the use of little Harry. On a part of this, one of the parents reposed for an hour or so while the other sat up, to attend to the two sick children, and thus they relieved each other through the warm and sultry night, during which all the windows in both rooms had to be tightly closed to prevent Henry or Florence from taking cold.

In the morning, the fever of the child was much increased, and his skin was almost as red as scarlet. When the mother examined him by the light of day, and saw his condition, she burst into tears, and burying her face in the pillow, sobbed aloud.

"Do not give up to your feelings so, Julia," Mr. Lawton said, tenderly, while his own voice trembled. "Let us still hope for the best."

"I have no hope," was Mrs. Lawton's response, as she raised her head. "What else can it be but scarlet fever? And you know that the dear little fellow is one of the most delicate of our children. He will never live through it."

"But let us wait, in some degree of hope, until the doctor comes in. You know that he seemed to think it might be nothing more than mea-

sles."

"I have no confidence in the hope he endeavoured to inspire. Has not the child been exposed for nearly ten days to the atmosphere in which his sister breathed? What else can it be then, but that dreadful disease? How wrong it was in us, dear husband, not to have sent both him and James to their grandmother's. All this would have been prevented."

"Perhaps so, Julia. But we cannot tell. What we did was for the best; and now let us be satisfied in that consciousness, while we endeavour to do all we can for our dear little ones."

It was about nine o'clock when the physician came in. Since daylight, Mr. and Mrs. Lawton had waited for him in trembling anxiety. He came into the room, and sat down by the bedside in silence. And all remained breathlessly still for more than five minutes, during which time he carefully and minutely examined



every apparent symptom. These minutes seemed to the parents prolonged almost to hours. Their hearts beat oppressively, and they almost held their breaths for the first word of hope or fear that might be uttered. At last the doctor raised himself up, from the examination, with a long, deep expiration.

"It is measles!" he said, in a tone of confi-

dence not to be mistaken.

"O doctor! are you sure?" Mrs. Lawton exclaimed, seizing hold of his arm, and looking into his face with a mingled expression of hope, con-

fidence, and fear.

"Yes, ma'am, I am fully satisfied. The eruption on the skin has assumed the true form and appearance, and there is little or no soreness or inflammation of the throat or tonsils. Still, you know, that even in measles, great attention is requisite to prevent the patient's taking cold, and so you must not abate a single attention."

Tears gushed from the eyes of the mother, and she sunk into a chair, overcome by emotions of joy that were too powerful to be controlled.

CHAPTER XVIII.

ANOTHER CHANGE.

THE hope created in the minds of the parents was not a fallacious one. Little Henry's disease



proved to be nothing worse than the measles. The reason of his taking it was also accounted for, when another child in the house, whose mother had frequently assumed the charge of him to relieve Mrs. Lawton while Florence was so ill, sickened of the same disease, and it became known that this child had not only been exposed to the infection, but that another child, who was just taking it, had been brought into the house,

and had played with him and Henry.

Gradually, both Florence and Henry recovered from their severe illness, for it was severe in both cases, and Mrs. Lawton began to feel the effects of three weeks' almost incessant watchings and painful anxieties, combined with all the inconveniences of her uncomfortable position. During all that time she had not once been present at the public table, and had thus been spared any encounter with Mrs. Parr and Mrs. Phipps, whose resentment continued unabated. Now, although her children were able to walk about the room, she did not feel inclined to join the family at meal times, but continued to have the little she required brought to her room.

"I shall never feel at home here again," she said one day, about this time, to her husband, as she reclined upon the bed, in a weak state from

her recent over exertions.

"Do you think that the children could be re-

moved safely?" Mr. Lawton asked.

"Yes, I think so. The weather is warm, and in a carriage there would be no danger of taking cold."



"I will look out, then, for a new home at once," her husband replied.

"I wish you would." For things get more and more unpleasant here. Margaret says that there is a disturbance with the cook or Mrs. Newell every day when she goes to prepare my meals, and those of Florence and Henry. And I am sure, after what has happened, I have no wish to go to the public table again."

The desire to return to housekeeping was strong in the mind of Mrs. Lawton. But as not the slightest allusion to this subject was made by her husband, she hesitated first to introducate. Enough had transpired since she had left her own well-arranged and commodious home, to convince her that all ideas in reference to superior comfort in a boarding-house, were perfectly chimerical. The thought of removing any where else than to their own house, was really painful, but she could not find resolution enough to declare this to her husband.

"I will try, Julia," he replied to her last remark, "to get another place in a few days, and one, if possible, more pleasant than this."

It was on the third day succeeding this conversation, that Mr. Lawton announced as successful his effort to obtain a new home.

"Where is it? and who keeps the house?" Mrs. Lawton asked.

"It is in East Broadway, and the mistress of the house is a very fine woman, I know."

"Is the situation pleasant?"

"O yes! And we are to have two large, airy

chambers; a front and a back one, adjoining each other."

"That will be delightful this warm weather! How much will we have to pay?"

"Not so much as we do here."

"Are there any other families in the house, with children?"

"Not one. So we shall be free from that trouble."

"O, I am so glad of that! But---"

"But what, Julia?" Mr. Lawton asked, seeing that she hesitated.

"I was going to say," she added, while the colour rose to her cheeks and forehead—"that—that—"

"That what, Julia?"

"That our own house would have been so much pleasanter."

"Why, Julia!" exclaimed Mr. L., with a look and tone of surprise. "Didn't you desire, of all

things, to give up housekeeping?"

"Yes, Frank! And I was foolish enough to persuade and worry you, until you gave in to my weak desire. But sadly enough have I since repented of it. I would give the world, were I again back in that pleasant home we occupied for ten years."

"That is now impossible, Julia. The house has been rented to other tenants, and will, probably, never again shelter us or our little ones. But why didn't you tell me this before I engaged

another place?"

"Because I couldn't take heart enough to do

it, I felt so mortified at the result of our boarding experiment. But the engagement is surely not binding?"

"I have made it for a year, Julia."

"O why did you do that, Frank! I can never stand it in the world to live in this way for another year."

"But, you will be much more pleasantly situ-

ated than you are now."

"Still, it will not be home—my own home, where I can do as I please. And then the children; poor things! I can't half attend to them in a boarding-house. And they are kept under restraint all the while."

Mr. Lawton did not reply, but walked the room backwards and forwards, in a thoughtful manner, for many minutes. At length pausing, he said.

"Will you be ready to move by to-morrow?"

"O yes. The sooner we can get away from here the better. Any change is preferable."

"To-morrow, then, it shall be."

After tea that evening, Mr. Lawton asked to have his bill made out and sent up to his room, as he intended moving on the next day, and wished to pay it in the morning. About nine o'clock the bill came up.

' How much is it?" asked Mrs. Lawton, as the servant who had brought it in left the room.

"Eighty-five dollars."

" Eighty-five dollars!"

"Yes, it is eighty-five dollars, and no mistake. But, as it is a bill of items, it will probably explain itself. Let me see. To two weeks boarding, at \$22 50—\$45."

"But it is only a week since you paid, if I

remember rightly."

"It was a week last Saturday. And this is only Tuesday. But here is a memorandum at the bottom, which will no doubt explain the charge. Boarders who leave in the middle of a week are always charged for the whole week, the same as if they staid."

"Well, that is too bad!" exclaimed Mrs. Law-

ton. "It is no better than swindling."

"Not much better, as I look at things," replied her husband. "It is a charge for a service not rendered, and made under the plea of a rule which few boarders would feel inclined to dispute."

"But how in the world does she swell the

bill up to eighty-five dollars?"

"The next item will explain, I presume. To four weeks' extras for children, and extra trouble for sending Mrs. L.'s meals to her room, \$10 a week, \$40. Quite cool and business-like, really."

"But you are not going to pay it?"

"Of course I am. I cannot deny the specifications of the bill, and as there was no contract for the extra services rendered, I am not willing to have any dispute about the exorbitant demand that Mrs. Newell has made."

On the next morning the bill was paid, and immediately after breakfast furniture-cars were brought, and all the furniture of their chamber

and parlour removed.

"As soon as I get our things into the house, I will send a carriage for you, and the children, and Margaret," Mr. Lawton said, as he left his little family, all dressed to go out, in the parlour below. Little Henry, just able to sit up steadily, and feel interested in what was passing around him, was on Margaret's lap, and Florence, still very weak, sat beside her mother, and leant her head against her.

"Send the carriage soon, father," Florence

said.

"In an hour at least," he replied, as he closed the door after him.

It was just an hour after that, the carriage drove up to the door, and full of pleasure at the proposed change, Mrs. Lawton and her little family stepped into it, and in a few minutes were whirling rapidly away. After a drive of about twenty minutes, the carriage stopped at a neat house in East Broadway. Mr. Lawton stood in the door with a smiling face.

"Welcome home again!" he said in a lively tone, as he opened the carriage door, and lifted Florence out in his arms, and then stood holding her, until they were ready to enter the house

with him.

In the next minute all were standing in the midst of two beautifully furnished parlours, Mrs. Lawton, and the children and Margaret glancing around them each with a bewildered air.

"What is the meaning of all this?" Mrs. Law-

ton asked, in surprise. "Where are we? These are all my things! These are my parlours!"

"O, we are home again!—home again!" exclaimed James, jumping up and down in an

ecstasy of delight.

"O, father, is it home?" Florence asked, looking up into her father's face with an earnest appealing look, while the tears started to her eyes—"Is it home, dear father!"

"Yes, my child, it is home once more. Our

own home."

"O, I am so glad !"

"And I am glad, dear husband!" Mrs. Lawton said, leaning her head upon his shoulder, and giving way to tears. "How foolish I was ever to leave my home in search of that happiness to be found alone within its sacred precincts."

"And I am glad, too," Margaret said.

"Ain't I glad! I reckon I am!" broke in James, still continuing to jump and dance about like an

urchin just let loose from school.

"I glad, too,' little Henry murmured, raising his head, which had fallen back on to the bosom of Margaret, his little eyes brightening, and his pale cheek warming with a sudden flush.

"So we are all glad together; and may we ever remain so!" Mr. Lawton said, with emo-

tion.

"I shall never again think any household duty a hardship," Mrs. Lawton remarked, after the tea things had been cleared away on that evening, and she had seated herself beside her husband on the sofa. "How much I have thought, in the last three or four months, about my former foolish, or, I must call them, wicked complainings. I now understand why our kind friend, Mrs. Emerson, used so frequently and earnestly to urge upon me the necessity of entering into my duties with a willing heart, rather than to seek to avoid them. Had I been influenced by her, rather than by Mrs. Campbell, and one or two like her, how much of that unhappiness, which has found its climax in the last two months, would I have avoided. Dearly, indeed, do we sometimes pay for our wisdom!"

"Never too dearly, however. For a just appreciation of our duties in life, is worth any sa-

crifice that its attainment may cost."

"I feel that it is. Hereafter, I earnestly hope that my sense of the duty I owe to my husband and family, may never be less acute than now."

Mr. Lawton did not reply. He felt that no precept was needed to enforce the plain, but earnest teachings of real life. And these proved effectual, for, ever after, to Mrs. Lawton there was no place like home; the duties of which, as they were entered into with the right spirit, became more and more delightful.

CHAPTER XIX.

CONCLUSION.

IT was about three years from the time in which the incidents of the last chapter occurred, that Mr. Lawton stood musing one day at his desk, about two o'clock in the afternoon. His countenance wore a troubled aspect; and he seemed much disturbed in mind. The cause can be told in a few words. The commercial difficulties that commenced in 18-. continued year after year, until there was scarcely a business man in the country who was not more or less affected by it. Like all around him, Frank Lawton bent to the gale; though he still remained strong at the root. But a succession of heavy payments completely exhausted every resource; and with the last note in bank that was to fall due for two months, he found himself, at two o'clock, minus the required amount, in the sum of three hundred dollars. He had paid over ten thousand dollars in the preceding thirty days, and now, like the last pound, under which the overladen beast sinks to the earth, he found himself really staggering under the necessity of raising so trifling a sum. All his business friends who would have gladly assisted him, had done so to the extent of their abilities, or, were themselves so cramped in their means, as to be unable to spare a single dollar. He had seen them



nearly all during the morning. Of the thousand dollars which he was required to pay, he had seven hundred. But where to obtain the remaining portion, was more than he could tell. He was now waiting for the return of one of his clerks, who had been sent to a business friend, not before called upon, to see if the required sum could not be borrowed from him. The minutes hastened rapidly away, and it was well on to half-past two when the clerk returned.

"Did you see Mr. ——," inquired Lawton in an anxious tone, as his young man entered.

"Yes, sir."

"Well ?"

"He says that you should have a thousand dollars and welcome, if he had them. But that he has not a dollar left in the house after taking up three notes to-day."

Mr. Lawton compressed his lips hard, and took a deep inspiration at the answer which he had feared his clerk would bring. There was now no longer any hope of obtaining the required sum, except by resorting to an expedient to which he had not yet been driven; an expedient that he dreaded only less than a failure in business. For a single moment he hesitated. But a glance at the hurrying fingers on the clock determined him. Hastily opening his desk, he took from a large pocket-book a note of hand, having thirty days to run. This he endorsed, with a hurried dash of the pen, as if he were engaged in a desperate act, to the perform-

mance of which he had nerved himself by the stern force of necessity. As he turned from his desk, a little boy, about ten years old, with a mild, sweet face, stood before him.

"Does Mr. Lawton live here?" inquired the boy, in tones musical and strangely familiar to

the ear of Mr. Lawton.

"Yes, my little boy, that is my name."

The child then handed him a note, and turning, glided away before Mr. Lawton thought of

detaining him.

Hastily breaking the seal, he was surprised to find that the note contained three one hundred dollar notes. These he quickly removed, glancing nervously at the clock as he did so, and placing them on the little package of seven hundred dollars that lay in his desk, handed the whole to his clerk, with the bank notice. latter instantly hurried off to lift the note. then proceeded to read the letter that enclosed so opportune a supply of funds. It ran thus:

"MR. LAWTON.—My dear sir. Three years ago, you loaned a poor widow, in her extremity, two hundred and fifty dollars, with which to pay her rent, and save her furniture from distraint. That widow, by the aid of her children, under the blessing of Providence, is now in much more comfortable circumstances, and perfectly able to return, with interest, your kind benefaction. Receive, then, your own, with the blessing of the widow and orphan upon it.

JANE BAILLIE. "Yours truly,

" New-York, June 14, 18-."



The sudden reaction of feeling caused by so unexpected an event, occurring too, so opportunely, melted down the feelings of Mr. Lawton, and his eyes grew dim with moisture as he bowed his head upon the desk at which he stood, and lifted his heart with an emotion of thankfulness to the Giver of all good.

It seems hardly necessary to tell the reader what must already have been inferred, that success had crowned the effort of Anne Baillie in setting up the millinery business, which she did, so soon as she had completed her trade. Josephine readily acquired a knowledge of the same art, and the two, with the aid and counsel of their mother, went to work in that earnest way that always meets success. In the course of a year or two, their business grew into importance, and when Mrs. Baillie returned Mr. Lawton the money he had loaned her, she was able to do so, notwithstanding the difficulties of the times, without at all feeling its loss.

THE END.



VALUABLE WORKS

PUBLISHED BY

D. APPLETON AND COMPANY,

NEW-YORK.

ŧ

THE BOOK OF THE NAVY:

Comprising a General History of the American Marine, and Particular Accounts of all the most Celebrated Naval Battles, from the Declaration of Independence to the present time. Splendidly embellished with numerous Engravings from Original Drawings —by William Croome. One handsome volume, 12mo.

A SKETCH OF THE LIFE OF PETER VAN SCHAACK, LL.D.

Embracing Selections from his Correspondence and other Writings during the American Revolution, and his Exile in England. By his Son, Henry C. Van Schaack. One handsome volume, 8vo.

This work is characterised by Mr. Sparks, the American Historian, as not only a very carious and interesting piece of biography, but a valuable contribution to the history of the country during the important period of the revolution.

A DESCRIPTIVE AND HISTORICAL ACCOUNT OF HYDRAULIC AND OTHER MACHINES.

For raising Water, including the Steam and Fire Engine, Ancient and Modern; with Observations on Various Subjects connected with the Mechanic Arts; illustrated by nearly three hundred Engravings, by Thomas Ewbank. One handsomely printed volume, 8vo. of six hundred pages.

Many years of laborious research have been occupied on this work. It is doubtless one of the most interesting original productions ever issued from the American press.

THE AMERICAN IN EGYPT,

And his Rambles through Arabia-Petræa and the Holy Land. By J. E. Cooley, with numerous original illustrations. One handsome volume, 8vo.

THE LIFE OF ALEXANDER HAMILTON

Edited by his son, John C. Hamilton. 2 vols. royal 8vo.

"We cordially recommend the perusal and diligent study of these volumes, subbiting, so they do, much valuable matter relative to the Revolution, the establishment of the Federal Constitution, and other important events in the annals of our country."—N. Y. Review.

GUIZOT'S HISTORY OF CIVILIZATION.

General History of Civilization in Europe, from the Fall of the Roman Empire to the French Revolution. Translated from the French of M. Guizot, Professor of History to la Faculté des Lettres of Paris, and Minister of Public Instruction. Third American edition, with Explanatory Notes, (adapted for the use of Colleges and High Schools) by C. S. Henry, D.D., Professor of Philosophy and History in the University of the city of New-York. One hand-somely printed volume, 12mo.

BURNET'S HISTORY OF THE REFORMATION.

The History of the Reformation of the Church of England, by Gilbert Burnet, D.D., late Lord Bishop of Salisbury—with the Collection of Records and a copious Index, revised and corrected, with additional Notes and a Preface, by the Rev. E. Nares, D.D., late Professor of Modern History in the University of Oxford. Illustrated with a Frontispiece and twenty-three elegantly engraved Portraits, forming four elegant 8vo. volumes.

BURNET ON THE XXXIX ARTICLES.

An Exposition of the Thirty-nine Articles of the Church of England, by Bishop Burnet With an Appendix, containing the Augsburg Confession—Creed of Pope Pius Iv., &c. Revised and corrected, with copious Notes and additional References, by the Rev. James R. Paige, A.M., of Queen's College, Cambridge. In one handsome 8vo. volume.

PEARSON ON THE CREED.

An Exposition of the Creed, by John Pearson, D. D., late Bishop of Chester. With an Appendix, containing the principal Greek and Latin Creeds. Revised and corrected by the Rev. W. S. Dobson, M.A., Peterhouse, Cambridge. In one handsome 8vo. volume.

THE DAUGHTERS OF ENGLAND;

Their Position in Society, Character and Responsibility. By Mrs. Ellis. Designed as a Companion to "The Women of England." 1 vol. 12mo.

THE YOUNG ISLANDERS;

▲ Tale of the Last Century. By Jefferys Taylor. 1 vol. 16mo., beautifully illustrated.

Equal in interest to Defoe's immortal work, "Robinson Crasce."

THE CHRISTMAS BELLS;

▲ Tale of Holy Tide, and other Poems. By the author of "Constance," "Virginia," &c. 1 vol. royal 16mo., elegantly ornamented.

SCHLEGEL'S PHILOSOPHY OF HISTORY.

The Philosophy of History, in a course of Lectures delivered at Vienna, by Frederick von Schlegel, translated from the German, with a Memoir of the author, by J. B. Robertson. Handsomely printed on fine paper 2 vols. 12mo.

INCIDENTS OF A WHALING VOYAGE.

To which is added Observations on the Scenery, Manners, and Customs, and Missionary Stations of the Sandwich and Society Islands, accompanied by numerous plates. By Francis Allyn Olmstead. One handsome volume, 12mo.

MRS. AUSTIN'S GERMAN WRITERS.

Fragments from German Prose Writers, translated by Mrs. Austin. Illustrated with biographical and critical Notes. I vol. 12mo. Elegantly printed on fine white paper.

THE NATURAL HISTORY OF SOCIETY.

IN THE BARBAROUS AND CIVILIZED STATE.

An Essay towards discovering the Origin and Course of Human Improvement. By W. Cooke Taylor, LL.D., &c., of Trinity College, Dublin Handsomely printed on fine paper. 2 vols. 12mo.

"We have perused the work with more interest and profit than any that has come under our notice for some time, and earnessly request the studious attention of our readers to the important auggestions and imposing truths it at every page discloses."—Scottish Journal.

ARTHUR CARRYL:

A NOVEL :

By the author of the "Vision of Rubeta." Canco First and Second. Odes, Heroic and Errotic; Epistles to Milton, Pope, Juvenal, and the Devil; Sonnets; Epigrams; Parodies of Horace: England—as she is; and other Poems; by the same author. I vol. royal 12mo. elegantly printed.

"We do not hesitate in saying that there is more of genuine poetry throughout the pages of 'Arthur Carryl,' han any other work that has come under our notice for some time."—
Bost. Morn. Post.

OGILBY ON LAY-BAPTISM.

An outline on the argument against the validity of Lay-Baptism. By the Rev. John D. Ogilby, A.M, Professor of Ecclesiastical History. 1 vol. 12.no.

THE GOLDEN GROVE.

A choice Manual, containing what is to be believed, practised, and desired, or prayed for; the prayers being fitted for the several days of the week. To which is added a Guide for the Penitent, or a model drawn up for the help of devont souls wounded with sin. Also Festival Hymns, &c. By the Right Rev. Bishop Jeremy Taylor. 1 vo. 18mo.

LADY'S CLOSET LIBRARY.

The MATERNAL SERIES of the above popular Library is now ready, entitled

THE HANNAHS:

Or Maternal Influence of Sons. By Robert Philip, 1 vol. 18mo.

DISCOURSES ON THE NERVOUS SYSTEM.

Select Discourses on the Functions of the Nervous System, in opposition to Phrenology, Materialism and Atheism; to which is prefixed a Lecture on the Diversities of the Human Character, arising from Physiological Peculiarities. By John Augustine Smith, M.D. 1 vol. 12mo.

LAFEVER'S MODERN ARCHITECTURE.

Beauties of Modern Architecture: consisting of forty-eight plates of Original Designs, with Plans, Elevations and Sections, also a Dictionary of Technical Terms; the whole forming a complete Manual for the Practical Builder. By M. Lafever, Architect. 1 vol. large 8vo., half bound

LAFEVER'S STAIR-CASE AND HAND-RAIL CONSTRUCTION.

The Modern Practice of Stair-case and Hand-rail Construction, practically explained, in a series of Designs; by M. Lafever, Architect. With Plans and Elevations for Ornamental Villas. Fifteen Plates. 1 vol. large 8vo.

HODGE ON THE STEAM ENGINE.

The Steam-Engine, its Origin and Gradual Improvement, from the time of Hero to the present day, as adapted to Manufactures, Locomotion and Navigation. Illustrated with forty-eight plates in full detail, numerous wood cuts, &c. By Paul R. Hodge, C. E. 1 vol. folio, plates, and letter-press in 8vo.

THE PRINCIPLES OF DIAGNOSIS :

By Marshall Hall, M.D., F.R.S., &c. Second edition, with many improvements, by Dr. John A. Sweet. 1 vol. 8vo.

KEIGHTLEY'S MYTHOLOGY FOR SCHOOLS.

The Mythology of Ancient Greece and Italy, designed for the use of Schools: ov Thomas Keightley. Numerous wood-cut illustrations. 1 vol. 18mo., nalf bound.

HAZEN S SYMBOLICAL SPELLING-BOOK.

The Symbolical Spelling Book, in two parts; by Edward Hazen. Con taining 288 engravings, printed on good paper.

This work is already introduced into upwards of one thousand different schools, and prenounced to be one of the best works published.

CRUDEN'S CONCORDANCE;

Containing all the Words to be found in the large work relating to the New-Testament. 1 vol. 18mo.

THE POLYMICRIAN NEW TESTAMENT.

Numerous References, Maps, &c. I vol. 19mo.

JEWSBURY'S (MARIA JANE) LETTERS TO THE YOUNG. 12mo. cloth.

CARLYLE ON HISTORY AND HERO-WORSHIP.

. Heroes. Hero-Worship, and the Heroic in History.

Six Lectures, reported with emendations and additions, by Thomas Carlyle, author of "The French Revolution." "Sartor Resartus," &c. beautifully printed on fine white paper. I vol. 12mo. Second edition. Contents.—The Hero as Divinity, Odin, Paganism, Scandinavian Mythology: The Hero as Proplet, Mahomet, Islam; The Hero as Poet, Dante, Shatpeare; The Hero as Priest, Luther, Reformation, Knox, Puritanism; The Hero as Man of Letters, Johnsen, Rosseau, Burns; The Hero as Mag, Crowwell, Napoloon, Modern Revolutionis

SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTCH;

OR, THE WESTERN CIRCUIT.

By Catherine Sinclair, author of Modern Accomplishments, Modern Society, &c. &c. 1 vol. 12mo.

SHETLAND AND THE SHETLANDERS;

OR, THE NORTHERN CIRCUIT.

By Catherine Sinclair, author of Scotland and the Scotch, Holida, House, &c. &c. 1 vol. 12mo.

SCRIPTURE AND GEOLOGY.

On the Relation between the Holy Scriptures and some parts of Geological Science, by John Pye Smith. D. D., author of the Scripture Testimony of the Messiah, &c. &c. 1 vol. 12mo.

THOUGHTS IN AFFLICTION.

By the Rev. A. S. Thelwall, A. M. To which is added Bereaved Parents Consoled, by John Thornton, with Sacred Poetry. 1 vol. 32mo.

WORKS BY REV. ROBT. PHILIP.

THE LIFE AND OPINIONS OF DR. MILNE,

Illustrated by Biographical Annals of Asiatic Missions from Primitive to
Protestant Times, intended as a Guide to Missionary Spirit. By Robert
Philip. 1 vol. 12mo.

THE LIFE AND TIMES OF JOHN BUNYAN,

Author of the Pilgrim's Progress. By Robert Philip. With a fine portrait. 1 vol. 12mo.

LADY'S CLOSET LIBRARY,

AS FOLLOWS:

THE MARYS:

Or, Beauty of Female Holiness. By Robert Philip. I vol. 18mo

THE MARTHAS;

Or. Varieties of Female Piety. By Robert Philip. 1 vol. 18mo.

THE LYDIAS:

Or, Development of Female Character. By Robert Philip. 1 vol. 18me

DEVOTIONAL AND EXPERIMENTAL GUIDES.

By Robert Philip. With an Introductory Essay by Rev. Albert Barnes 2 vols. 12mo. Containing

Guide to the Perplexed.

Do. do. Devotional.

Do. do. Thoughtful.

Do. do. Doubting.

Do. do. Conscientious. Do. do. Redemption.

YOUNG MAN'S CLOSET LIBRARY.

By Robert Philip. With an Introductory Essay by Rev. Albert Barnes.

1 vol. 12mo.

LOVE OF THE SPIRIT,

Traced in his Work: a Companion to the Experimental Guides. By Robert Philip. 1 vol. 18mo.

WORKS BY THE REV. J. A. JAMES.

PASTORAL ADDRESSES:

By Rev. John Angell James. With an Introduction by the Rev. Wm. Adams, 1 vol. 18mo.

Contents.—The increased Holiness of the Churca. Spirituality of Mind. Heavenly Mindelness. Assurance of Hope. Practical Religion wises in every thing. How to spend a profitable Sabbath. Christian Obligations. Life of Faith. Influence of Older Christians. The Spirit of Frayer. Private Prayer. Self-Examination.

THE YOUNG MAN FROM HOME.

In a series of Letters, especially directed for the Moral Advancement of Youth. By the Rev. John Angell James. Fifth edition. 1 vol. 18ma.

THE ANXIOUS ENQUIRER AFTER SALVATION

Directed and Encouraged. By Rev. John Angell James. I vol. 18mo

THE CHRISTAN PROFESSOR,

Addressed in a series of Counsels and Cautions to the Members of Christian Churches. By Rev John Angell James. 1 vol. 18mo.

THE FLAG SHIP:

OR A VOYAGE ROUND THE WORLD.

In the United States Frigate Columbia, attended by her consort, the Sloop or War John Adams, and bearing the broad pennant of Commodore George C. Read. By Fitch W. Taylor, Chaplain to the Squadron. 2 vols. 12mo, plates.

ELLA V---:

Or the July Tour. By one of the Party. 1 vol. 12mo. "He can form a moral on a glass of champagne."—Le Roy.

MISSIONARY'S FAREWELL.

By the Rev. John Williams, author of Missionary Enterprises, etc. 1 vol. 18mo.

SACRED CHOIR.

A Collection of Church Music. Edited by George Kingsley, author of Social Choir, etc.

"This collection is pronounced by the most eminent professors to be superior to any published in the country."

MY SON'S MANUAL.

Comprising a Summary View of the Studies, Accomplishments, and Principles of Conduct, best suited for Promoting Respectability and Success in Life. Elegantly engraved frontispiece. 1 vol. 18mo.

My Daughter's Manual.

Comprising a Summary View of Female Studies, Accomplishments and Principles of Conduct. Beautiful frontispiece. 1 vol. 18mc.

GRIFFIN'S REMAINS.

Remains of the Rev. Edmund D. Griffin. Compiled by Francis Griffin. With a Memoir by Rev. Dr. McVicar. 2 vols. 8vo.

PALMER'S TREATISE ON THE CHURCH.

A TREATISE ON THE CHURCH OF CHRIST,

Designed chiefly for the use of Students in Theology. By the Rev. William Palmer, M. A., of Worcester College, Oxford. Edited, with Notes, by the Right Rev W. R. Whittingham, D. D. Bishop of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the diocese of Maryland. 2 vols. 8vo., handsomely printed on fine paper.

VALUABLE WORKS FOR THE YOUNG:

PUBLISHED BY

D. APPLETON AND COMPANY.

Parents may with entire safety place in the hands of their Children any of these cheap, yet elegant Publications.

TALES FOR THE PEOPLE AND THEIR CHILDREN.

II The greatest care is taken in selecting the works of this popular series. Each volume is illustrated with an elegant frontispiece, and bound in superior style.

The following are now ready — to be had separately, or in uniform sets:

THE POPLAR GROVE; or, Little Harry and his Uncle Benjamin. By Mrs. Copley.

EARLY FRIENDSHIPS; by Mrs. Copley.

THE PEASANT AND THE PRINCE; by Harriet Martineau.

NORWAY AND THE NORWEGIANS; or, Feats of the Fiord. By Harriet Martineau.

MASTERMAN READY; or, the Wreck of the Pacific. Written for Young People, by Captain Marryat.

- THE LOOKING-GLASS FOR THE MIND; or, Intellectual Mirror. An elegant collection of Delightful Stories and Tales: many plates.
- HOPE ON, HOPE EVER; or, the Boyhood of Felix Law. By Mary Howitt.
- STRIVE AND THRIVE; a Tale. By Mary Howitt.
- SOWING AND REAPING; or, What will Come of It? By Mary Howitt.
- WHO SHALL BE GREATEST? a Tale. By Mary Howitt.
- WHICH IS THE WISER? or, People Abroad. By Mary Howitt.
- THE DANGERS OF DINING OUT; or, Hints to those who would make Home Happy. To which is added the Confessions of a Maniac. By Mrs. Ellis.
- SOMERVILLE HALL; or, Hints to those who would make Home Happy. To which is added the Rising Tide. By Mrs. Ellis.
- THE TWIN SISTERS: a Tale. By Mrs. Sandham.
- THE TWO DEFAULTERS: a Tale. By Mrs. Griffith, of New York.

Several other popular works are in preparation.

SPRING AND SUMMER.

The Juvenile Naturalist, or Walks in the Country. By the Rev. B. H. Draper. A beautiful volume, with fifty plates. I vol. square, handsomely bound.

AUTUMN AND WINTER.

The Juvenile Naturalies, or Walks in the Country. By the Rev. B. H. Draper. A beautiful volume, with many plates, uniform with "Spring and Summer."

PICTORIAL LIFE OF NAPOLEON.

History of Napoleon Bonaparte, translated from the French of M Laurent de L'Ardeche, with five hundred spirited illustrations after designs by Horace Vernet, and twenty original Portraits engraved in the best style. Complete in two handsome volumes, octavo, about five hundred pages each.

PICTORIAL ROBINSON CRUSOE.

The Life and Adventures of Robinson Crusos. By Daniel De Foe With a Memoir of the Author, and an Essay on his Writings, !lustrated with nearly five hundred spirited Engravings by the celebrated French artist, Grandville, forming one elegant volume octave, of 500 pages.

PICTORIAL VICAR OF WAKEFIELD.

The Vicar of Wakefield. By Oliver Goldsmith. Elegantly illustrated with nearly two hundred Engravings, making a beautiful volume octavo, of about 300 pages.

THE STORY OF JOAN OF ARC;

By R M. Evans. One elegant volume, with many plates. A truly interesting Historical Juvenile.

EVENINGS WITH THE CHRONICLERS;

OR, UNCLE RUPERT'S TALES OF CHIVALRY. By R. M. Evans. Many Illustrations, uniform with Joan of Arc.

GEMS FROM TRAVELLERS;

Illustrative of various passages in Holy Scripture, with nearly one hundred Engravings. Among the authorities quoted will be found the following distinguished names: Harmer, Laborde, Lane, Madden, Clarke, Pocceke, Chandler, Malcolm, Hartley, Russell, Jowitt, Carne, Shawe, Morier, Niebuhr, Bruce, Calmet, H. Blunt, Belzoni. Lord Lindsay, &c. 1 vol. 12mo.

MY SON'S MANUAL;

Comprising a Summary View of the Studies, Accomplishments, and Principles of Conduct best suited for promoting Respectability and Success in Life. Elegantly engraved Frontispiece. 1 vol. 18mo.

MY DAUGHTER'S MANUAL;

Comprising a Summary View of Female Studies, Accomplish ments, and Principles of Conduct. Beautiful Frontispiece. 1 vol. 18mo.

A GIFT FROM FAIRY LAND;

By the late Secretary of the Navy. Illustrated by 100 unique original plates, by Chapman, elegantly bound. 1 vol. 12mc.

THE YOUNG MAN FROM HOME:

In a series of Letters, especially directed for the moral advancement of Youth. By the Rev. John Angell James. Fifth edition. 1 vol. 18mo.

MINIATURE CLASSICAL LIBRARY.

- Great pains has been bestowed in the selection of this unique Library. It will comprise the best works of our venerated authors; published in an elegant form, with a beautiful frontispiece, teatefully ornamented. The following are now ready:
- GOLDSMITH .- Essay. By OLIVER GOLDSMITH.
- GOLDSMITH.—The Vicar of Wakefield. By OLIVER
 GOLDSMITH.
- JOHNSON.—The History of Rasselas, Prince of Abyssinia, a Tale. By Samuel Johnson, L.L. D.
- COTTIN.—Elizabeth, or the Exiles of Siberia. By Madame COTTIN. The extensive popularity of this little Tale is well known.
- ST. PIERRE.—Paul and Virginia; From the French of J B. H. De St. PIERRE.
- PURE GOLD from the Rivers of Wisdom.—A collection of short extracts on religious subjects from the older writers—Bishop Hall, Sherlock, Barrow, Paley, Jeremy Taylor, &c.

TOKEN OF REMEMBRANCE.

TOKEN OF AFFECTION. TOKEN OF FRIENDSHIP.

Each volume consists of appropriate Poetical extracts from the principal writers of the day.

A LIBRARY FOR MY YOUNG COUNTRYMEN.

A series of instructive works adapted to the youthful mind, o a character associated with the annals of our country, has long been wanted. This Library is intended to comprise sketcne. of the Lives, Adventures and Discoveries of the early founders of America; also the lives of distinguished men connected with American history of more modern date: it is likewise intended to include some approved works of English authors, re-edited with additions and explanatory notes. The whole charge of the Library is confided to the hands of the popular author of "Uncle Philip's" "Whale Fishery," "Lost Greenland," &c &s.

The following commence the Series:

THE LIFE AND ADVENTURES OF HENRY HUBSON,

By the author of "Uncle Philip's," "Virginia," &c.

ADVENTURES OF CAPTAIN JOHN SMITH;

Founder of Virginia. By the author of "Henry Hudson," &c.

DAWNINGS OF GENIUS:

By Anne Pratt, author of "Flowers and their Associations," &c

LIFE AND ADVENTURES OF HERMAN CORTES:

By the author of the "Adventures of Captain John Smith," &c

THE CROFTON BOYS;

A Tale For You're. By Harriet Martineau, author of "The Peasant and the Prince," "Norway and the Norwegians," &c.

This truly interesting and instructive work forms the aixteenth volume of the popular series of "Tales for the People and their Children."

THE OLD OAK TREE;

A most interesting little volume of practical instruction for youth; illustrated with nearly fifty plates.

"This volume comprises a series of twelve familiar discourses or conversations which took place on as many Sabbath afternoons, a pious old blind man being the chief speaker. It is by the author of 'John Hardy,' 'The Footman,' &c., and is published under the direction of the Society for the promotion of Christian Knowledge. The praceopts converged are altogether unexceptionable, and the whole volume is well calculated to prove attractive with children."—Sat. Chrowicis.



